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ABSTRACT

Neely, Cecil N., An Early History of Msdison County, Texss.
Master of Arts (History), August, 1971, Sam Houston
State University, Huntsville, Texas. 103 pp.

Purpose

Tne purpose of this study has beon to trace the early
history of Madison County, Texas, from the days of its first
Indisn inhsbitants, through its creation and orgsnization in
the 1850's, to epproximately the turn of the twentieth
century. Presently, only limited literary efforts have boen
nade to record the county's history. As the older citizens
of the county fade awsy and county documents of historical
value are lost or destroyed by fire, it becomes more d4difri-
cult to uncover the facts as they occurred. This thesls was
an effort to presorve highlights of the history of Madison

County in writing.

Methods

The methods used to obtain material for this study were:
(1) examination of Madison County newspapera; (2) examina-
tion of several old scrapbooks on the history of Madison
County; (3) examination of records at the Texas Archives,
Austin, Texas; (L) examinétion of Texas history books, peri-
odicals and journols; (5) personal intervisws with descend-

ants of the early settlers of Madison County; (6) examination

of various secondary sources.



Findings

The evidence presented in this study suggests the
following conclusions:

1. The area that later became known as Madison County
was inhabited by Indisns, probably as early as 500 A.D. The
Bidai Indians, a branch of the Atakapans, lived beside Bediss
Creek in what is now Madison County. Because of diseaso and
Spenish intervention, the Bidal dwindled away, and in 1854
the remnonts were moved to the Brazos Reservation.

2. Early explorers of the Madison County area were
Luis de Moscoso, a Spaniard who had been an original nember
of the Hernando de Soto expedition, and Cavelier Sieur d»

La Salle, the famcus French explorer, who according to one
source was killed just south of the present site of Madison-
ville. In 1774, the firat Spsnish settlement wes made zlong
the Trinity Rivor at a site called Bucareli. The settlers
were later forced to flee from the Indians and, consequently,
they established the town of Nacogdoches on April 30, 1779.
Trinidad, a Spanish garrison, wss established in 1805 on the
Trinity River, about three miles below the o0ld Bucarsli
settlement. Later, it was the site where a small force of
the Mages-Gutlerrez expedition was murdered by the Spaniards.

3. Two historic old roads run through Madison County.
The northern road that traversed the county east to west was
known by three different names: 01d San Antonio Road, El
Cemino Real snd the King's Highway. The lower road through

the area broke awsy from the 0ld 3an Antonio Road somewhero



between the Trinity River and the present town of Midway and
continued in a southwesterly direction. It was known as the
La Bahia Road. Each of the roads began as an east-west
Indian trail. Today, the 01d San Antonio Road is a modern
highway that runs through Madison County. The La Bahia Road
csn be traced on old maps, but no physical trace remains in
present-day Madison County.

L. Madison County, like its northern neighbor, Leon
County, was settled as a result of the western movement of
1840, elthough a few white settlers srrived in the early
1800's. Probably the first permenent white settler was Major
W. C. (Billy) Young from South Carolina. With a gun and a
bag of belongings, Young settled at the site of present-day
Midway. ter Texas gained its independence, settlers, in
large numbers, moved to the area.

S. Madison County was created as a "judicial county"
by an act of the Texas Congress in 1842; however, the act
was later held to be unconstitutional because the county was
not suthorized at least one representative. Madison County
was officially crcated by an act of the Texas lLegislature on
Janusry 27, 1853. Later, it was organized on August 7,
1854, when lMadisonville was established as the county seat.

6. Many small cormunities were settled in Madison
County, but only three--Midway, Madisonville and North

Zulch--continued tc grow. By the late 1800's, schools and



churches were established throughout the county. The rail-
rosd came to Madison County after the turn of the twentieth

century.

- n

Johh W. Payne v
Supervising Professor
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CHAPTER I

THE LAND AND ITS EARLY INDIAN INHABITANTS

Madison County 1is locsasted in the timberlands of the
East Texas Plains, which is found in the western edgeo of the

Atlantic Gulf Coastsl Plains.l

It resides upon the 31lst
parallel of latitude and nineteen degroes of longitude in
rolling terrain.2 Madison County is bounded on the south by
Walksr and Grimes Counties, on the west by Brazos County, on
the east by Houston County and the north by Leon County.3
Saveral netural and men-madc arcas make up the bound-
eries for the county. The Trinity River fcorme the boundery
on the east and the Bedias Creok on the south. The Navasota
River determines the western boundery and the 0ld San
Antonio Road marks a ma jor portion of the boundary on the

L

north.

1Rupe:'t Norvel Richardson, Texas: The Lone Star
Stats (Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc.,
igga), 3" .

2James L. Rock and W. I. Smith, Southern and Western
Texas Gulde for 1878 (St. Louls, Missouri: A. H. Granger
Publisner, 1878), 97.

3Gener91 Highway Map, prepared by the Texas State
Highway Department, 1962.

b1bia.



In 1882 A. W. Spaight, the Texas Comnissioner of
Statistics, roported that the general surface of the county
was undulating, with only a few hills and vealleys. The land
was divided into timber and prairie, with timber comprising
two-thirds of the area. An abundance of post oak was
available for fencing purposes. .Bedias, Caney, Poole, Iron,
Lerrison and other stroams end lakes were reported capable
of affording sufficient water for stock needs. Spaight
records that all of the crecks mentioned were to some degrce
dry in the summer. However, pools of water stood the year
round in some of the deep holes in the streams. Drinking
water was obtained from several springs located in the
county and wells dug et a depth of from fifteen to one hun-
dred feot.

The Trinity River washes the eastern end of the
county for esbout thirty miles and, in 1832, was navigable
from thres to nine months of the year.s In later years the
Trinity Water-shed comprised thirty-seven counties. Buddy
Wakefield, President of the Mid-Trinity Valley Association,
commented that "It holds a quarter of the natural wealth of
the stats . . . ." 1Its natural resources are beyond esti-

mation, and the river has often been referred to as the

SA. W. Spaight, Resources, Soil and Climate of Texas

ég;lveston: A. H. Belo and Conpany, Printers, 1832),




"state treasury.”

Spaight reported in 1882 that the soil wes a "decp
black wsxey" along the river, s light alluviel in the creek
areos, & gray sandy over s subsoil of clay in the timbered
uplands and & derk chocolate mixed with sand on the prairie.
Cotton was the major crop, producing sbout 500 to 1200
pounds in the seeds per acre. Corn produced from twenty to
forty bushels and osts thirty bushels. Many superior orchards
were yielding fine peaches, plums and grapes. Blackberries
snd dewberries grew wild in the county and were found in
abundance in all aress.! Wild berry crops are still found
in some parts of the county.

Present-dey soll snslysts divide the county into two
land area descriptions, Texas Blacklond Prairie end Texss
Claypan Aree. The Texes Blacklend Prairie is the leest
cormon end is found slong the Trinity and lavasota Rivers,
Bediss Creck snd several isolated spots in the northern por-
tion of the county. In those sreas the soils sre primarily
clay end clay loam. The soil reaction runs from slightly
acid to slkaline and calcareous and hss a tendency to shrink
end swell. Crockett, Wilson, Houston Black snd Heiden are

names of the soils found in the uplands, and Miller, Trinity,

6Buddy Wakefield, "Trinity River Rich with Possi-
bilities for Madison County," Madisonville Meteor, August 2,

194).

7Spaight, Resources, Soil snd Climate, 201.
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Norwood, Kaufmsn, Yahols snd Gowen ere principal bottomland
8

soils.

Soils of the Texas Claypsn ares are more numerous
in the county and developed from a Postoek Savennah type
vegetation. The surface texture is sandy, over a heavy dense
clsy subsoil, end scts both ss a wet end dry soil. Tebor,
Actell, and Lufkin are the names of soils that sbound in the
uplends, and Kosse, Iuke, Ochlockonee and Tuscumbis are the
main soils of the bottomlands.9

Old-time citizens of Madison County tell of running
a horse unimpeded by brush through the tall gresses. The
grass was said to reach to their stirrups. Later, settlers
began to plow up theo tall grass and brush moved in to take
its place. Since that time the county has been plagued with
the effort to improve its soil by planting old flelds in
gress, removing brush, snd re-establishing pine in certain
locations.lo

In 1880, the stand of loblolly pine was estimated to
exceed 200 million board feet in the southern part of Madison

County. Post Oak and associated deciduous trees were found

eSoil Conservation Service, Madison County Conserva-
tion Needs Report, 1967, Madisonville, Texss 1967, 22.

bid.

10Bedias Creek Soil Conservation District, Progrsm
and Plan, Revised January, 1965, .

—_—




in the uplands, snd pecan, pine, oak snd other hardwoods in

11 Todsy, there is very little marketable

the river valleys.
timber remaining in the county; however, some timber is

still cut for use as fence posts and railroasd ties. In 1971,
about twenty per cent of the sarea is timberod.l2

D. E. E. Branan, in his book on the middle counties

of Texas in 1857, wrote that the climate in Madison County
is "generally heslthy." He continued:

The winters sre short, and colder than on the sea-
board, the spring sessons mild snd glowing with budding
life; end the surmers are long, dry and sultry, the
:gguigid?r? ?lfigant and asgreesble, neither too hot nor

The Bedias Creex Soil Conservation District reports

that the climate of the county is characterized by mild
winters snd long summers, with s gradusl trsnsition from one
to the other. During the winter months, pleesant days eslter-
nate with periods of cloudy weather or slow rain of several
days' duration. Sudden cold spells, known &s northers,

ususlly occur between November and April. The surmer months

are hot and unfavorable to the growth of gresss. Rainfall is

11'1‘. C. Richardson, Esst Texss Its History end Its

Makers, ed. Dabney White, III (New York: Lewis Historical
Publishing Co., 1940), 1143-1144.

2Personal Interview, L. B. Plboin, District Con-
servationist, Soil Conservstion Service, April 2, 1971.

) 13D. E. E. Bremsan, Braman's Information About Texss
(Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott & Co., 1857), 12.




6
slight and scattered during July, August and September. The
growing season is sbout 261 dsys. For fifty-four yesrs prior
to 1963, the aversge rainfall was 43.4 inches. The lowest
officiel temparature ever recorded in the county was minus
2 degroes F. and the highest temperature 107 degreos F.lu

There hes elways been an abundance of wild gsme in
Madison County. Spaight recorded in 1682 that deer, turkey,
squirrel and water fowl were found in lsrge numbers in the
county.15 T. C. Richardson reported in his bcok, Esst Texss
Its History and Its Makers, that Madison County was a buffalo

6
range long after it had been established.l Although deer

and squirrel remsin plentiful in present-dey Madison County,
the buffalo and turkey hsve long since disappeared.

In the 1880's, the gencral health of the people was
reported as good. The only sickness indigenous to the area
was maleria and that was found along the river bottoms
where mosquitos were numerous. In those days, it wss re-
ported that the Trinity River had several springs, a few of

them possessing "vasluable medicinal properties." The springs

l4pedias Creek Soil Conservation Service, Program
eand Plan, 6.

-——

lsspaight, Resources, Soil and Climate, 202.

16Richardson, Enst Texas, 114);.



7
were said to produce a mineral water celled "Chalybeate."l7
The Texas Department of Agriculture in 1909 listed
the staple crops in the county as cotton, corn, suger cenec,
oats, sorghum, and both sweet and Irish potatoes. Boef
reaising was listed as the principal interest.l8

In 1971, the Texss Almonac shows that Madison County

has an agriculture-business economy. Corn, cotton, peanuts
and vegetables sre listed as the main crops snd raising beef
cattle remains the chief industry. Presently, 10,000 becof
cettle and 2000 dairy cattle are found in the county. The
ennual farm incoms is sbout $4,426,000. Limited oil and gas
minerals are also found in the local aroa.19
Madison County is composod of 478 square miles and
in 1969 had a populastion of 8,149 psople. The sltitude of
the ares vaories from 2C0 to 370 feet. January is the coldest
month with an eversge temperature of approximately LO degrees
and July has the hottest temperature, averaging about 94
degrees.zo

A map of present day Madison County shows an elabo-

rate network of rosds leading from the main cities in the

17Spaight, Resources, Soil and Climate, 202.

18Texas Department of Agriculture, Bulletin (Austin,
Texes: Published bimonthly by Texss Department of Agri-
culture, May-June, 1910), 702.

197ezae Almanac, 1970-1971, 31}.

201p14., 314.



county with msny modern interconnecting farm-to-market
highweys. A recently constructed interstate highway which
connects the two major Texss cities of Houston and Dallas
runs north and south through the county. Madisonville, the
county seat, is the junction for two U. S. highways, 75 and
190, and two Texas highwsys, 21 and 90. Numerous creeks
and their tributaries wind throughout the county. Major
creeks aro Caney, Iron, Kickapoo, Shepherd, Brushy, Lerri-

2l Many of the tribes of the early

son, Bedias end Young.
inhabitants of the area camped beside these creeks after
migrating from the Gulf coast.

Probszbly es early ss 500 A.D., an advanced people
established themselves along the Gulf Coast. They multiplied
and srreed to the east and west. After a period of time,
these people reseched the Trinity River area in Texas. They
then occupied an areas from the Atlantic coast to the eastern
part of Texas. Archeologists have called this cultural
development the Mississippi Pattern. The people were pro-
ductive agriculturally and well-developed into mutual group-
ings. The Indians of East Texas beceme known as the Caddo
Confederacies.

The largest tribal member of the Caddoes was the
Cenis (Hasinais). They occupied the upper portions of the

Neches and Angelina River Valleys and stretched into

2lpexes Highway Map, 1962.



present-day Madison County.22 The Cenis were easily dis-
tinguished fron other tribes becsuse of their "hospitality
and gentleness of disposition.” A large number of the
people lived on the banks of the Trinity River and they
called the ares Arcokisa, which meant prairiedom. Theilr
land was dsnsely settled and the people lived in extremely
large villages. Their homes were bullt in the shape of a
bee-hive, rising some forty feet in the air. The Cenis pri-
marily raised corn and were considered a wealthy tribe. The
Comanches from the north, as their allies, assisted them in
trading with the Spanish for horces, money, silver and
clothing.23 When La Salle first set eyes on the Cenis in
1685, he was prompted to write,

The vilinge of the Cenis is one of the largest and
most populous I have 3eon in America. It is at least
twenty leagues long . . . , in hamlets of ten or twelve
cabins. . . . Their cabins are fine, forty or fifty
feet high, of the shape of bee-hives. . . . The fipe
is in the middle, each cabin holding two families.zﬂ

The Comanches were located in the northern and nortn-

western part of Texas and along the Rio Grande as far as the

mouth of the Salado.25 They were nomadic and warlike and

often wandered into scutheast Texas hunting game and raiding

22y w, Newcomb, Jr., The Indians of Texas (Austin:
University of Texas Press, 1967), 280-3}.

23Henderson Yoakum, History of Texas (New York:
Redfield, 1355), I, 28.

2h1p14., 28.
251bid., 27.



10
weaker Indian tribes. The Bidai Indians, the principal
residents of the arca now~ called lladison County, often fell
victims to these incursions. The Comanches in the area also
raided the first Spenish settlement, known as Bucareli.25

Below ths Caddoes, in an area which includes present-
dey Madison County, lived a little-known people cselled the
Atakapans. They belonged to the southeast culture, and their
narie meant "man-eaters”" or cennibsls. The langusage of the
tribe stermed from the Tunican language stock that originated
in the area of the coast of Louisiana and Hississipp1.27

Located in the northern reaches of the Ataxapan ter-
ritories was a branch of their grouping celled the Bidais
Indians. In the Caddoan language, Bidai meant "brushwood."
The Bidai--along with the Deadoses, who ware probably a
femily outgrowth of the Bidai--occupied the Trinity River
Valley. These people lived in what is now the heart of
Madison County.28

The Bidal Indians established their camps along
Bedias Creck, and their main village was located at the con-

fluence of the Trinity River and Bedlas Creek. These people

were considerzd to be a backward tribe in relation to the

2%Herbart E?gene Bolton, Texss in the Middle
Eighteenth Centur Mew York: Russell and Russell, Inc.
Yoe3T 1Ty ' ’

27Newcomb. Indisns of Texas, 315-15.

281p14., 315.



11
other Indians in the area. Their existence was meager, at
best, and thoy dwelled in "wretched huts." The Bidail were
never & large tribe and their nuabers were constantly re-
duced by epidemics and frequent raids by hostile Indian

29 Although the Atskapans were known to be cannibals,

30

groups.
the Bidai were never reported to be human flesh estors.
The French and Spanish had different opinions about
the Bidai Indians. The French rsferred to the Bidai as
"ferocious savages, vagrant miserables who begged for sub-
sistence," while the Spanish considered them "friendly,
pesceful, poor, wanting Christian attention." The Spanish
were found later to be more corroct in their estimation of
the Bidei. 1In 1778, De Mezieres roported that "The Bidai
Indians are almost extinct from the recent msalady; they are
given to drunkeness; they raise no crops, lead miserable
vagabond lives and do not heed the advice of the Spaniards."31
The Bidai Indians were friendly to the Spanish before 1770
but later Joined forces with the enemies of the Spanish.

They were known to acquire firearms from the French and sell

them to the Lipan Apaches. 1In that period the Comanches and

9
Rex Stricklsnd, "Moscoso's Journcy Through Texas,"
Southwestern Historical Quarterly, XLVI, 1365.

30

Newcomb, Indians of Texas, 327.

3lisllace Davis, My Home Town: The Bediss Stor
éﬂouston, Texas: The Gulfcoast Publishing Co., 1953),
7"29 .



the Spanish were sllied against the Apsches.32

As the French settled Louisiana, the Indisn tribss
in that area were pushed westward. In one great battle,
those tribes met the Cenis and probably the Bidai on the
left banks of the Trinity and almost destroyed them in
1781.33 Disease and Spanish intervention caused the Bidai
to dwindle. As the Bidal wasted away, many of them Jjoined
tribes located to the north and south. In 1830, the Bidai
nunbered only about one hundrod men and they were known to
be peaceful and honest, good growers of corn and good hunters
of desr. Those Bidail, joining the Caddo remnants in the
north, were subsequently moved to the Brazos Reservation in
1854 and later to the Oklahoms roservation.Bu

W. W. Newcomb writes in his book, The Indians of

Texas, that the Bidal were reported to have had deformed
heads, but no one knows if thoe Indians caused the deformity
on purpose or if it was done unknowingly. When sn Indian
mother had a new baby, she would strap him to a plece of
bark which had been bent to fit his body. Consequently, the
bar«'s pressure caused the head of the baby to becoms
elongated and deformed.35 The early Spanish explorers were

the first white men to observe the Bidai deformity.

32Newcomb, Indisns of Texas, 319.

33Yoakum, History of Texas, 36.

3uNowcomb, Indisns of Texas, 319.

35m14., 320-327.



CHAFTER II
EARLY EXPLORATIONS AND HISTORIC ROADS

The exact routes of early explorers are difficult to
locate; howevar, the Spanish and the French who explored
East Tcxas kept travel Journals that are presently available
for various interpretations.

One of the earlier explorers visiting the area that
is prosent-day Madison County was the Spaniard Luils de
Moscoso. Originally a member of the Hermando de Soto expe-
dition, Moscoso continued the journey in 1542 after de Soto's

desth. Dr. Rex Strickland writes in the Southwestern

Historical Quarterly about the expedition and concludes that

Moscoso reached the Trinity River and crossed to its west
bank. The expedition apparently crossed the Trinity Jjust
below a site that later becams knmown as Robbins Ferry and

was above the mouth of Bedlas Creek.1 A copy of the original
map of Moscoso's Journey shows that his party entered the
southeastern portion of present-day Madison County and

traveled along what latsr became lmown as the La Bahias Road.2

1Stric‘.{land, "Moscoso's Journey," Southwestsrn

Quarterly, XLVI, 113.
21p14., 158.

13
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Before crossing the Trinity, Moscoso camped on the east
side of the river snd ten scouts wera sent across the river
search for food. The scouts captured several Indians and,
from their description, Strickland surmises that they wocre
the lowly Bidais. A Hasinal (Cenis) guide could not under-
stand theoir dialect, and the crossing appears to have taken
place at the site of the Bidsl camp located at the mouth of
the Bedias Creek on the Trinity. The scouts were unable to
determine what lay ahcad in their journey end consequently
the Spaniards, now on the west bank of the river, remained
for a few days and, being apprehensive about continuing, re-
turned slong the route from which they came.

Another famous traveler to Texas was La Salle. His-
torians hsve disagreed for years over the site where Robort
Cavof&er, Sieur de La Salle, was kllled on March 20, 1687.
Many historians agree that La Salle was killed on the Nava-
sots River near present-day Navasota, Texas. The debate
stems from the fact that the path that La Salle followed is
difficult to pinpoint.h

Frencis Parionan, the noted historian, believed that

La Salle was murdered on one of the Trinity River tributaries.

3mi4., 134-135.

hBill Walraven, "Old Map Shows La Salle was Killed

?é'g. of Medisonville," Madisonville Meteor, December 6,
D .
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Recently, an historicsal collector came into possession of
an old map that tends to corroborate Parkman's information.
The map wes published in 1773 sand bears a scribdbled note
which is positioned on the map just below the site of what
is now Madisonville. The note is written in Spanish: "Aqui
fue muerta M. de la Salle en el ano 1687." "Here is where
Monsieur De La Salle was killed in the year 1687." The map
was acquired from the Spanish Archives. Apparently, the map
was prepared in 1749 during the Spanish colonization progran
by Jose de Escandon. Bill Waelraven, in his article about the
death site, states that the Alonzo de Leon expedition to East
Texas in 1609 probably provided the information for the map
concerning the site of La Salle's murdor.S

E. W. Cole studied the officisl diary of Henri

Jouteﬁ, the La Salle expedition historian, and psosrsonally
traced the journcy across Walker County from its southwest
edge to its northwest cornor.6 Although prior to 1853 the
area now known as southeasstern Madison County was part of
Walker County, Madison County receives st least part of the
fere fron the Walreven article.

As explorations continued in East Texas and the

Spanish gained influence throughout Texas, a Spanish

STbia.

6E. W. Cole, "La Salle in Texas," Southwestern
Historical Quarterly, XLIX, 482-500.
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settlement was established on the west bank of the Trinity
River sbout two leagues sbove the Bidsi Indian encampment.

In 1774 the Spsnish Governor, Ripperda, exiled s group of
families from Los Adaes, loceted in the vicinity of what 1is
now Nacogdoches, because of contratand trasde with the In-
dians. These families received permission to settle on the
Trinity in September, 1774. The families were to set up the
community as sn outpost against the French. Gil Ybarbo is
given credit for organizing the settlement.7 The community
was named Nuestra Senora del Pilar de Bucarelil (slso known
es Paso Tomas) snd celled Bucareli. Within e short period of
time Bucareli had s "pleza, church, guard house, twenty
houses of hewn wood, and numerous huts." The settlers were
made to pay no texes or church tithes for s period of ten
yeersl, Althcugh it was a prosperous comunity because of
111icit trade with the French, an epldemic in 1777 and
Comanche raids in 1778 caused the Spanish to consider decert-
ing the settlement.

Father Batello, a Spanish priest, became disheartened
and left Bucareli, snd in a letter he wrote on December 23,
1778, bemoaned the life of the settlement. He concluded

that Bucarelil "should be abandoned; that besides béing

7Bolton, Toexas in Eighteenth Century, 116-118.

8Walter‘ Prescott Webb and H. Bailey Carroll (eds.),
The Handbook of Texss, I (Austin: Texas State Historical
Association, 1952), 235.
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threatened with destruction by the Comanches, it was in-
capable of irrigstion and had proved unheslthful because of
hesvy rains. . . ."9

To add to the misery of the people, a flood on Feb-
ruary 1ll, 1779, caused the Trinity River to overflow its
banks, drowvning ebout half of the live stock in the communi-
ty. The river rose halfway up the walls of the villago
houses. Almost simultaneously, the Comanches struck Bucsreli
sgain. The people, completely disenchented, fled toward the
east and settled in the vicinity of the o0ld mission &t Nacog-
doches. Thus, the beginning of the modern city of Niacog-
doches, Texas, can be traced from the Bucarell settlement
which dates from April 30, 1779.10 Later, Robbins Ferry wes
established at the old site of Bucarel! and a modern stecl
bridde spans the river at that location todey. The bridge
is located about fifteen miles east of Madisonville on Texas
Highway 21.

In 1805, the Spsnish governor of Texss, Manuel
Antonio Corcero, sent three companies of trocps to en ares
celled Spsnish Bluff (Trinidad), locaeted a short distance
below the old Bucareli settlement. The purpose of the set-
tlement was to regain possession of territory claihed by the

United States.ll

9Bolton, Texas in Elighteenth Century, L36.

101p:d., 437-39.
1l7ey0a Almanac, 1857, 150.
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Several years later, in 1812, Lieutenent Augustus
Magee, a young officer in the United Stastes Army, turned to
ideas of empire when he failed to receive a promotion to
captain. Feeling that the republican cause in Texas needed
competent soldiers, he appointed himnself colonel in the
"Republican Army of the North" and begen to organize an army.
The revolution was continuing in Texss and Magee joined with
Bernado Gutisrrez de Lara, a wealthy man of Nuevo Santander,
to invade Texns.12

The Spanich soldiers fled from Nacogdoches &s the
Msgee-Gutierrez expedition epproached in 1812. The descend-
ents of Gil Yberbo welcomed the invaders. Moving quickly,
thay struck Spanish Bluff and San Antonio, end won great
victories. Twelve hundred Spanich soldiers surrendered at
San Antonio after one of Magee's officers promised them
safety. At that point, Gutierrez plotted with one of his
officers, a Captain Delgado, to take political control of
Texas. Delgado was to take the Spenish Governor and a group
of prisoners to Loulsiana to rermove them from the contested
area. Along the march, embittered over his father's death at
the handa of the Spanish, he slaughtered the Spanish governor
and a large number of the prisoners from San Antonio. Con-
sequently, Gutierrez was forced to resign and Magee died,

leaving his cormand to Henry Perry. After several disastrous

127 g, Fehrenbach, Lone Star: A History of Texas sand
Texsna (New York: The Macmillen Company, 1968), 120-126.
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fights, the rermesnts of the Mageo-Gutierrez expedition were
forced to flee toward the esst. Elisondo, the Spsnish
commander, pursused and caught up with about eighty of the
survivers of the expedition at Spenish Bluff (Trinidad).
Remembering the atrocities of Delgado earlier, the Spanisrds
tied the men in groups of ten and paraded them to an old
cypress tree where they were massscrzd. Captain Delgado wsas
samong those slain.l3 Spsnish Bluff later had a ferry crossing
the Trinity at its site. Presently, nothing remsins of the
old sottlenent.

Ma jor W. C. Young, from South Caroclina, was the first
permanent settler in what was to become Madison County. He
later ecimed fame at the Battle of San Jacinto. Major Young
reported in 1631 that the riessacre of the Magee-Gutierrez
expedition had tzken place at "Bull Hill," located nsar the
present city of Midway in Madison County. He was quoted as
saying, "their bleaching bones were still to be seen in
1631, "t

Although several forts were established in East Texas,
only one was located close to the Madison County area. In
1840, a company of minute men under the cormmend of Thomas
K. B. Greer esteblished Fort Boggy as headquarters for the

Boggy-Trinity Rangers. The fort was located just to the

131v14., 120-126.

lhﬂichardson, East Texos, 11LL.
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northeast of present-day Madison County in what later became
Leon County. The fort served as protection for the frontier
in the area and later a cormunity sprang up in the vicinity
by the same name.15

The old roads running through Madison County are
even more femous than the early settlements, for along those
trails history wes made in early Texas. Willism Hogen in his

book, The Texas Republic, shows that the principsl roads in

Madison Cournty in 1845 both converged near the old Robbins
ferry on the Trinity River. The northern road that ran east
to wezat through the sres was known by threo different nsmes:
01d San Antonio Road, El Camino Real, and the King's Highway.
The lower roed through the area brokeo away from the 0ld San
Antonio Road somevhere between the Trinity River snd whst is
now Midway and continued in a southwecterly direction. It
was named the La Bahla Road.l6 It is sometimes called the
Opelousas, or Lower Rosd, and early settlers referred to it
as Labadec Rcad.l7 The La Bahia Rosd began as an east-west

Indisn trail on the border between Texas end Louisians and

continued west, crossing the old Robbins Ferry locstion on

15/ebb end Carroll (eds.), Handbook of Texss, I, 621.

1641111am Ranson Hogan, The Texas Republic (Norman:
University of Oklshoma Press, 19L5), 59, map.

17 ;
W. D. Wood, "Origin of Names of Madison County erd

Madisonville," Quarterly of The Texas State Historicsl
Associstion, VI-, A‘ppi‘}, 1903, 335.
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the Trinity asnd running on through Washington on the Brazos
gand Golisd. The Spsnisrds laid out the western portion of
the trail, which becems known then as the Atescosito Road.18

A map of o0ld Spanish Texes shows that in 1689 Alfonso
de Leon laid out the Le Bahia Road while on an expedition
looking for the survivers of Ls Salle's perty.19 His one-
hundred-man force appsrently never found eny of the French
in the area.zo Todsy, the La Bshis is traceable on old maps
but no trace of it physically exists in lMadison County.

The Camino Real (0l1d San Antonio Road) is, according
to one source, the "oldest regularly traveled highway of
civilization in Toxas."21 The 01d San Antonio Roed had its
beginning as an early Indian snd buffalo trail. It was first
trseced in 1691 by the vrovincisl governor of Texas, Dominge
Teren de las Kios, betweer Monclova, the capitol of the
province, and a Spenish mission in east Texas. Early
travelers on the rosd were the French trsder, louls Jucheroau
de St. Denis, in 1714, and Moses Austin, in 1820. Mshy early
Anglo-Americans traveled the road to the interior of Texas.
The route was reconstructed by V. N. Zivley in 1915 from a

1778 diary of Juan Agustin Morfi. The 0ld San Antonio Road

18,/ebb and Carroll (eds.), Handbook of Texas, I, 2.

19¢oskun, History of Texas, 330, map.
201b1d., L.

21Rich:\rdson, East Texas, 11L).
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is presently a modern highwsy which runs through the county
and establishes a portion of the boundary between Leon and
Madison Counties. Normangee, located just outside Madison
County in the northwest, has the distinction of being the
home for the 014 Ssn Antonio Road Association.22

Many legends have been told about the 0ld Sen Antonio
Road. One that is particularly interesting concerns early
Spanish travelers on s section of road that now borders
Medison County. Sometime in the early dsys, a Spenish cara-
van of pack mules leden with silver stopped to camp for the
night. After dark, Indians attacked the sleeping men. The
Spaniards, fearing for their lives, dumped the silver in a
lske and fled. Only three escepad and, years later, ono ro-
turned to search for the silver. He never found the trsasure,
although coins, called Spanish sovereigns, have been found
along the road. One coln was dated 1775, which predetes the
American Declaration of Independence.23

The I.a Bahia and the 0ld San Antonio Rosd were usecd
by early settlers of Texas in February, 1836, when Antonio
Lopez de Ssnta Anna began his conquest of Texas. The term
"Runaway Scrape" was first used during the settlers' flignt.
Hard pressed by Senta Anna, the settlers from Refuéio, San

Patricio, Sen Antonio, Washington-on-the-Brazos end other

22yebb and Carroll (eds.), Handbook of Texas, II,

309-10.

237, Y. Gates and H. B. Fox, A History of Leon County
(Centerville, Texnz: Leon Sounty Neus: 19333,—3}
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south central arcas began their move toward east Texas.zu
{fany of the fleseing settlers gathorod at Robbins Ferry to
cross the Trinity on tho one ferxry boat that was available.
The refugees were scattered all over the Trinity bottom from
Young's Creek (now Midway) to thoe ferry. White settlers and
their slaves, trovelling in 211 types of conveyances, were
there. Wagons, hacks, end slides drawn by oxen, mules, and
horses dotted the countryside. The group probably numbered
as many &8s 200 pcople. When only & few people had crossed
the river, word was received that Santa Anns had been de-
feated at San Jecinto. The settlers turned back on the old
roads and returnsed to their hones.25

The Robbins Ferry that has been mentioned several
times was first established on the Trinity River by Joel
Leakey at Pzco Tomas (old Bucarell) in 1829. Several years
later Nathaniel Robbins built a ferry to cross the ford and
named it for himself. In 1852, Flisha Clapp ascquired the
ferry and his descendants continued its operation until 1928,
when a steel highway bridge was built. From 1852 on, the
site was known as Clapp's Ferry and Madison County citizens

still refer to it by that name.26

The early roads leading from the ferrles and across

2lyebd end Carroll (eds.), Handbook of Texas, II,
S14-15.

25346 Corley, "Early Day History of Madison County,"
Madisonville Meteor, Jsnuary 28, 1932.

26Webb and Carroll (eds.), Handbook of Texas, II,

L483.
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Texas were nothing but trails. William Ransom Hogan states

in The Texas Republic that the roads most heavily traveled

were no more than dusty trails during dry weather and marshy
ruts in wet weather. In early 1831, Sam Houston wrote of
the roads in the general vicinity of later-day Madison
County: "At this time the roads are most terrible and im-

possible in this section of the country."27

27Hogan, Texas Republic, 52.
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HISTORIC MAP OF MADISON COUNTY

/ﬁ anVYs G4 NMYUQ LIN
(LYW Ix0dddy)
S IW
A} 1 E |
” £ o
A 4
N \
\
NPT LA
NO Q72 a2
K& ST 2 =2
A
<
L p® O
ot oL
oo *, © hs3")
. N
& o 21
<
- 4
= "
.2 /(....Wp,.i
Mun L
¢ 4.
LOI.- . °
a Ad% A N
VOO //#‘4 p
f n>\.ﬂ\/\.’r““q’l—w (#}
Q (R
(/L\u ONV
0 e
O b \
P ,
7, ¥ '
(73 \
Q



CHAPTER III
CREATION AND ORGANIZATION

Mexico had gained its indepondence from Spain in
1821 and Texas becarme part of the new Empire of Mexico.
Moses Austin, a Missouri banker, saw groat promise in the
land called Texas and consequently in 1820 had requecsted
permission from the Spanish government to establish a
colony there. Although his request was granted, Austin
died before he could orgsnize the colony. His son, Stephen
P. Austin, continued plans for the colony and in 1821
established the first American settlement in Texas along the
Brazos and Colorado KHivers. The site was in an area later
to be called Weshington-on-the-Brazos.

In 1831, while still under Mexican control, Texas
was organized into three dopartments, called Bexsar, Brazos,
and Nacogdoches. The northern portion of Austinfs colony
was located in Brazos Department. The people of that de-
pertment submitted a petition to the San Felipe political

chief, James B. Miller, requesting that a municipality be

'

"Texas," Encyclopedia Britannica. 27th ed., XXI,

993-94.
26
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organized at Washington-on-the-Brazos. The petition was
granted end on July 16, 1835, an election determined the
officials for the municipality.2 Later, after Texas gained
its independence, the Congress of the Republic of Texas

made Washington a county. The boundaries werec delinsated

by en act of Congress:

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Repre-
sentatives of ths Republic of Texas, in Congress as-
sembled, That all the districts of the country within
the following described boundary be, and comprose the
county of Washinzgton, (to wit:) beginning at the mouth
of Caney Creek on the west bank of the Brazos river,
then up the said creek to its northwestern source,
thence in a western direction, to the southeast corner
of tha league of land granted to Harmon Hensley on
Mill cresk; thence west to the ridge dividing the
waters of New Year's and Yegua creeks of the Brazos,
thence north along said ridge with the eastern boundary
of the counties of Fayette and Mina (later called
Bastrop) to the 01d San Antonio Road; thence east with
said river to its mouth; thence down the river Brazos
to the place of beginning.3

Subsequently, Burleson, Brazos, Lee, Montgomery, Grimes,
Madison, Walker, and San Jacinto counties were carved out of
Washington County.h

Madison County, like its northern neighbor, Leon
County, was settled as a result of the Westward }bvement of

1840, although a few permsnent settlers arrived in the early

2Charles F. Schmidt, A History of Washington County
(San Antonio: Naylor Company, 19L9), 7-8.

34, P. N. Garmel (ed.), Laws of Texas (Austin:
Garmmel Book Co., 1898), II, 748.

uSchmidt, History of Wsshington County, 8.
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1800's. The main reason for their settlement of Texas was
economic. People desired cheap lands and many had "get-
rich-quick" plans. Most migrated to better their lot in
life and a few to escspe punishment for some wrong-doing.
The developnent of new cotton land, high cotton prices, and
the cheap econonic system of slavery werc incentives to
continue the migration. Probably, es in Leon County, the
desire for new cotton lands was the primsry incentive of
the early sottlers moving to ladison County.5 As the areca
now called Madison County grew with the influx of settlers,
Texas legislators were in the process of constituting newu
counties,

From the county of Washington, the Congress of the
Republic of Texas made sevoral smaller counties. One of
those counties created in 1837 was Hontgomory.6 Although
an attempt would be made to carve Madison County from llont-
gomery County in 1842, it would be anothor eleven years
before Madison County would be officially created. When the
Fifth and Sixth Congresses of Texas net in 1841 and 18,2,
several countioss were organized as "judicial counties." The
term "judicial counties" was spplied to those counties which

were not given representation in Congress. The judicial

5Gates end Fox, History of Leon County, L.

6John W. Beldwin, An Early History of Wanlkor County,
Tex3s. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Sam Houston State
Teachers College, 1957, 25.
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county of Madison was created Februsry 2, 1842, and
included the '"western half of present Montgomery County,
part of present Walker County and a slice of San Jacinto
County."7 The act read:

Be it ensctod by the Senate and Hcuse of Repre-
sentatives of the Republic of Texas in Congress
assembled, That all that portion of Montgomery County
bounded as follows, to wit: Beginuing on the San
Jacinto, where the line of Harris county crosses the
same; thence eastward, with the line of said county
to the 1line of Trinity county, thencs northward, with
the line of said county; to the north-west corner
thercof; thence, westward, a direct linse, to the north-
east cornor of a league of land granted to John Shan-
non, on ths San Jacinto, thence down the San Jacinto
to the placo of beginning, shall constitutg a new
county to be called the county of Madison.

By the act of 1842, Congress required Madison County
to mark its boundaries, to pay for the cost of such action
and to hold county elections. It was also directed that
Madison County constitute a Board of Commissioners who were
to locate the county seat on a tract of land to be purchased
that did nct exceed 160 acres. The commissioners were to
sell lots from the 160 acres and with the procceds build a
"court houss, jail end other public buildings."9

Later that ssme year the judicisl counties were held
to be unconstitutional in violation of Article I, Section 5,

of the Constitution. The article stated that "each county

TWobb and Carroll (eds.), Handbook of Texas, II,

128.
8Gammel (ed.), Laws of Texas, II, 91.-

91bid., 92.
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shall be entilled to at least one roprosontative,"lo and at
that time Madison County wss not represented in Congress.

In 1837, Robertson County was created from Mileno

County and organized in 1838. Subsequently, Leon County

was formed fron Robertson County on March 17, 18&6.11 Al-

most one month later, on April 6, 1846, Grimes end Walker
Counties were created out of lMontgomery County.12 From the
counties of Grimes, Walker end Leon, Madison County was
croated officially on January 27, 1853.13 The act of the
legislators stated that the new county of Madison would be
defined as follows:

Beginning at the mouth of Bediss Creek on the
Trinity river, and running up the main Bedias to =
point where the line between the counties of Grimes
send Walker crosses the ssme; thence by a direct line to
the northwest corner of 8 tract of land in the name of
B. Q. Hedley, on the lNavasota river; thence up said
stream to whero the San Antonio road crosses the ssame;
thence runningz with the south boundary of Leon County
to the southwsst corner of Alce Garrett's survey;
thence on a direct line to the north-east corner of
Eiram Walker's survey on the west bank of the Trinity
River, and thence down the river to the plsce of be-
ginning.lh

10g, L. Batts, "Defunct Counties of Texss," South-
western Historicol Quarterly, I, 87.

11Jene Francis Leathers, Through the Years: A
Historical Sketch of Leon County and the Town of Oakwood,
published by the suthor, 155, EZ.

1260 mmel (ed.), Laws of Texss, II, 8-9.

13Batts, "Defunct Counties," Southwestern Quarterly,

I, 88,

Gommel (ed.), Laws of Texas, III, 10-11.
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Congress declarod that after elections were held,
all courts for the county would meet in the home of James
Mitchell, Jr., until the counbty seat was established. The
county seat was to be selected by a simple majority of the
people voting. Congress declared that the county would be
known as Madison end the county seat Madisonville; and
further gave the approximate location of the county seat.
In part, the act reoad, "the saild county seat to be located
shall, in no event, be more than five miles from the centro
of the seid county."lS

Madison County was named for President Jsmes Madison,
who was born in Orsnge County, Virginia, on March 16,
1751.16 His political career brought him fame and in 1808
ho wa3 elected President of the United States, where he
served for two terms. Because of his fine work in writing
the Constitution of ths United States, he bescame known as
the "Father of the Constitution." The man responsible for
recomnending that Madison County be crested was Dr. Pleasant
Williams Kittrell. He was also given the privilege of naming
it and later came to be known as the "Father of ﬂadison

nl7

County. Dr. Kittrell was born in Kittrell Springs,

151p14d., 10-11.

162. T. Fulmare, The History and Geography of Texas

88 Told in County Names. Publianad by the author, 1915
3.2-630 ’ ’

17Mr3. Ssm W. Jackson, Scrapbook on History of
Madison County. (Unpublished).
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North Carolina, in 1805. He subsequently graduasted from
Chspel Hill end received his medical training from the
University of Pennsylvania. W. H. Kittrell, Jr., in later
years said of his grandfather that he served in the Legis-
latures of North Carolina, Alebsma, and Texas.18 After the
county wess orgsnized on August 7, 185)4,19 Dr. Kittrell
served ir the Sixth Texes Legislature and becanie the first
representative for the official county.zo Dr. Kittrell wes
the personal physician of General Sam Houston and was at
his bedside at the Stesmboat House in Huntsville when the
General died. Subseguently, Dr. Kittrell purchased the
famous Steamboat House and died there in 1867 during a
yellow fever epidemic in Walker County.21

Msdisonville, the county seat of Madison County, is
located on a league of land granted by the Mexicen Govern-
ment to Job Starks Collard on May 28, 1835. Collard was a
member of the Austin colony. When the county began its

organizetion attempts in 1853 and 1854, Collard donated

leaased on correspondence between W. H. Kittrell,
Jr., grendson of Dr. P. W. Kittrell end Mr. Ray Moore
Stelle, Suporintendent for Texas School for the Deaf,
December 7, 1953.

19%ebb and Cerroll (eds.), Handbook of Texss, 128.

ZoHemqug of the Legislature of the State of Texsas
{rgn 181:6 to 1939. Published by State of lexas, Jeanuary 15,
93% .

21Mr3. Sasm W. Jeckson, Scrapbook on History of
Madison County (unpublished).
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approximately two hundred acres to the people of the county
"for the purpose of estsblishing e town site." Although
records are not availeble to define the exact original
boundaries, a study of the records of the area surrounding
{fadisonville revesled that the town site was loceted on a
narrow tract of land running from present day U. S. Highway
75 to the western boundary of the two city cemeteries on the
west side of town.22

W. D. Wood, a distinguished resident of the lMadison
County and Leon County area, was in Madisonville during the
sumner of 1853 when town lots were being sold. He wrote
that the town square or courthouse square was located about
two hundred yords from the Job Collard residence. Wood
referred to Collsrd ss a "most useful and exemplary citizen,"
from a réspected family, who was asctive in matters "civil
and military."23
T. C. Richsrdscn ssys that there wss no way to de-
termine the numbsr of residents in 1854 when the county was
organized; however, the nunber must have been considereble,
for in 1856 Bremen's 1list of Post Offices shows that Medison-

ville and Elwocd were both listed as "county towns." No

explenation is given why there were two county towns, but

22yi111sm Rey Malone, "Early History of Madisonville,"
Madisonville Meteor, June 3, 195.

23y, D. Wood, "Origin of Names of Madison County and
Madisonville,"” Quarterl: of the Texss State Historical
Association, VIE-H‘T_“App'd", 1903), 32.
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often in those early days it took several elections to
deternine where the county soat would be located. Richerd-
son conjectures that courts were probably held in both
locations between 1854 end 1856 prior to the establisnment
of Madisonville as the permsnent county seat.Zh It now
appears that Madisonville was selected es the county seat
over Elwood because of the requiroment to locete the county
administration within five miles of the center of the county.
In addition, the town site of lMadisonville was donated to
the people of the county. Madisonville wes also situsted
close to a supply of fresh drinking water that was availeble
in a stream-fed lake located on the northeast side of the
town site.

W. H. Kittrell, Sr., the son of the farnous doctor,
releted in sn article in the county newspaper that Madison-
ville was known es "a wild and wooly burg" before the Civil
War and after, and the county wes referred to as the "Free

tate of Hadison."25 In Mrs. Sam W. Jackson's scrsespbook is

an zrticle by Ed Kilman taken from the Houston Post. Mr,

Kilman, reporting on the journal of Dr. P. W. Kittrell, the
founder of Madison County, quoted one of the notes in the
Journal. It read:

Madison county, apart from its range advanteges is
a poor place to live, and especianlly to raise s family.

ZhRichardson, Esst Texss, 1l1lLl.

25Mr3. Ssm W. Jackson, Scrapbook on History of
Madison County (unpublished).
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Whilst there are several families of good, plain,

excellent people there for whom I formed a sincere
attachment, yet there is quite a number of lowminded,
lowflung creatures smong whon persons of sonsib%%ity
& refinement cannot live with any sestisfsction.

Madison County in the late 1840's and early 1850's
wss not always a quiet and poaceful place and the people
were not necesssrily law-abiding. Seversl incidents of mis-
conduct took plece in the late 1840's that required the ad-
ministretion of justice. A judge from Montgomery County,
whose name cannot be determined, arrived snd held the first
official court in the northern part of Madison County. Al-
though the details of the triel are not availeble, it is
known that two men were convicted and sentenced to terms in
the state penitentiary. Crime continued on the increase
and additionel courts were held in and asround the town site
of Madisonville. One trisl was conducted under a stand of
trees located in the vicinity of the present-dsy First
Baptist Church.27

In 1854, the firat courthouse in Madisonville was
constructed of rough logs. Several years later it wes de-
stroyed by fire and quickly reconstructed. The second court-

house burned in 18467. Lumber was hauled from sawmills in

ad jeacent counties on ox carts and a more modern courthouse

261p14,

2Ty, N. Coleman, County Judge, "Courthouse History
Prem Shade Tree Justice to Present," Madisonville Meteor,
August 2, 194);.
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was built the ssme year. On Januery 2, 1873, the court-
house burned for the third time and with it went all the
records of Madison County. Several days later, the court-
house was re-established in an old Hasonic building snd it
remained there until 1878. On April 2, 1878, the Com-
missioners Court met to discuss the construction of a new
courthouse.28

W. C. Gibbs, County Judge, P. K. Goree, R. S. Page
and H. B. Cobb, Cormmissioners, and William W. Viser, County
Cler«, were the members present. The court determined that
a tax of one-half of one per cent would be levied on all the
assessed property of the county to pay for the construction
of a new brick courthouse. Thonas and Warnor, a firm of
contractors, was given the building contract. In January,
1879, the building was completed. It was forty feet square,
two stories tall and divided by a ten-foot hall. The second
floor had three rooms which included the court room, jury
room znd judge's office. The bottom floor was divided into
four office rooms. That building stood for only a few years
before the Commissioners Court rendered it unsafé for use.
At that time, the commissioners decided to build a spectacular
building, ons that would draw attention in the eestern part of

Texas.29

281414,

291bid.
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The Houston architectural firm of F. S. Glover
drafted the plans for the new building in mixed Gothic and
Flemish design. Myer Brothers and Risk of Houston was
awarded the building contract for the sum of $25,300 on
February 17, 1894. The old courthouse was demolished and
construction began. A tax of twenty-five cents on each one-
hundred-dollar valuation of property in the county was
levied to pay for the building. Bonds in the amount of
$25,000, to maturse in forty years, were also issued. Two
kilns of brick were burned in the vicinity of the old Perry
Ashley home. B. S. Malone worked as the consultant engincer
for the Commissioners Court. When the courthouse was con-
pleted, it gave the appearance of a large stately castls
standing in ths middle of the town square.30 Mrs. Ben H.
Park, a long-time resident of the county, recslled that her
husband hauled the clock, that adorned the top of the court-
house for seventy-three years, by ox wagon from Huntsville.
The trip took over four days. The clock was so large that
nothing else could be broucht in the wagon with 1t.31

Cn M2y 14, 1967, the picturesque old Hadison County
Courthouse burned to the ground. When the red sandstone
corner block was removed from the debris of the burned-out

building, a small metel box was found in a carved-out

301h14.

31ncourthouse Clock Brought in by Oxen," Madison-
ville Meteor, May 18, 1967.
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recess of the stone. In the box was an old copy of the
Madisonville lMeteor, badly faded and dsmaged by rye
whiskey that had leaked from a half-pint bottle slso found
in the container. Another old raper printed in characters
that was thought to be Yiddish was found in the box.

Several coins-~including one half dollar, a half dime, threse
V nickels (one dated 1833), ono 1876 dime, and three Indian-
head pennies--were also found in the container. The county
records survived the fire in a fireproof veult and were
moved to the old Madisonville High School building, which
served as a tenporery courthouse until the new one was
completed in 1970.32

A new modern fire-proof courthouse made of brick
and stone and trimmed with marble panels was formally dedl-
cated on May 31, 1970. Including a basement and two floors,
the totsal area of the building is 23,118 square feeot.
J. H. Sprill Construction Company of Jasper, Texas, erocted

the building at a cost of $628,OOO.33

In a Newslettsr, "The Texas Good Roads Association,"
is a short paragraph written about the many courthouse fires
in Madison County. Although none of the material can be

substantiated, the article provides a touch of humor to the

cause of the fires:

32"Cornerston9 of Courthouse Yields Interesting
Relics," Madisonville Meteor, May 18, 1967.

33miew Courthouss Dedicated Sunday," Madisonville
Meteor, June L, 1970.
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Another reason, according to rumor, was con-
venient disposal of land abstrects and titles, court
evidence and other interesting legal minutia. At
least one courthouse was torched by an overenthusi-
astic lynch rmob. That same county (Madison), oddly,
lost ons seat of government over a gray goose. A
bet was made as to whether theo goose was nesting
under the floor, and the only way to settle it was to
tear down the courthouse.3lt

The names of the earliest known Madison County of-

ficials are listed in the 1857 Texss Almanac. They include:
R. S. Rayburn, Chief Justice; Francis W. Harnes, County
Clerx; George S. Harrison, Sheriff; John McIver, Assessor
and Collector; and L. D. Collins, District Clerk.3® In that
period, Madisonville was characterized as a small town with

36

all wooden buildings. No statistics are given in 1850

for the county but for 1855 the Texas Almsnac shows that

there were 429 Negroes (slaves), 1190 horses snd 10,436
cattle; 365,321 acres vslued at $676,960 wore asseased in
the county. The 429 Negroes were valued at $229,800, which
made the average value of a slave in Madison County ap-
proximately $535.37

In 1857 the white population of the county was about

1015. That figure was determined from the number of people

3lirexas Good Roads Association, Newsletter No. 67-1,
Austin, Texas, July 1967, 3.

35Texas Almanac, 1857, 95.
36

Texas Almanasc, 1858, 76.

37Texas Almanac, 1857, 55, 70.




Lo
voting in the last election, multiplied by a figure of seven
which was called "the official average to the voter."38
Just prior to the Civil War, in 1859, the county had 609
Negroes valued at $431,350, 2130 horses valued at $115,065
and 29,800 cattle valued at $182,318. The slaves were more
valuable than the horses and cattle combined.39 The Texas
Almanac also shows that in 1856 the county had post offices
in Madisonville, Midway and Elwood.ho Although some evi-
dence csn be found to support the contention that other

post offices were in existence at that same time, official

records give only the three named above.

38Texas Almanac, 1858, L1-43.
39%rexas Almenac, 1860, 206.

UOpexas Almansc, 1857, 30-31.




CHAPTER IV
EARLY SETTLERS AND RELATED INCIDENTS

Madison County is located on the site where three
ernpresario grants of the Moxican Government Jjoined. The
grants went to Austin, Vehlein and Burnet. Don Jose Miguel
Musquiz received the first land for settlement in the
Madison County area when he was granted 101,852.6 acres of
lend, ;8,712 of which were located in the Vehlein colony.
It is not known wheather Musquiz ever lived on the land
given him. By 1830 Musquiz's land had changed hends sevoral
times. Additional land grants wore made during the early
1830's; however, deads were not racorded by Texas before
1835, and the esrliest owners of property cannot be de-
termined. Even after 1835 recorded deeds were scarce. The
county seat of Madison County was not established until
1854, end subsequently the courthouse burned sevgral times
resulting in the destruction of valuable records.

With few exceptions, the early ploneers of Madison

County entered the area in the east end of the county at

1W1lliam Ray lMalone, "The Beginning of Anglo-American
Settlemsnt of County," Madisonville Moteor, June 3, 195l.

8|
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the Trinity River. The river had roceived its name more
then one hundred and fifty years before the earliest Anglo-
American settlers crossed it. When Captain Ponce DeLoon
and Padre Massanet marched into Texas from Mexico in 1689,
they came upon a large, clear, swift-moving stream. The
Padre, knowa for kindnoss snd wisdom, "raised his crucifix
to the skies, kn2lt down in prayer, and named the pretty
stream Rio Trinidad." Thus, the river thst borders Madison
County on the esst becsme known as "the Trinity."2

It is difficult to establish the exact date thst
the first white settler arrived in Madison County; however,
it is generslly accepted by the descendants of the early
pioneers that Ms jor W. C. (Billy) Young was the first
permanent white settler. In 1829, after the death of his
wife, Major Young left South Carolina and moved to Texas,
settling in the vicinity of present-day Midway, Texss. He
left 2 son and three dsughters with his brother in South
Carolina. With e rifle snd 8 small bag of belongings, Young
established a homesite and lived by himself in the wilder-
ness for s number of years. Later in the struggie to
liberate Texus from Mexico, he fought with distinction at
San Jacinto. It is recorded that Major Young was the first
to utter the words "Remember the Alamo," "Remember Golied,"

which have gone down in history es famous rellying cries.

2Mrs. Sem W. Jackson, "History of County from
Indisn Days to Now Traced," Madisonville Meteor, August 2,

194 .
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After Texes galned its independence, Young wrote his
children in South Carolina end promised to return for
them.3

While hunting one day, Young ceme upon an Indian
hut where two Indisn men end e tall hsndsome white boy were
sitting. To his emazement, he saw that the white boy was
his own son, Willien Foster Young, whom he had left in
South Carolina. Young and the Indisns exchanged crude sign
langusge end Young was able to determine that the Indians
had found the boy wendering lost in the wilderness and had
taken him as one of their own. After much debate, Young
was gble to barter for the boy. Later, the son told his
father that he had taken a horse from his uncle in South
Cerolina, Joined s Texss-bound wegon train, snd headed for
Texas to Join up with his fsther. After leaving ths wagon
train, the boy became lost in the vicinity of the Trinity
River and was found by the Indisns. Fesaring his father's
disapprovsl of his conduct, the boy decided to remsin with
the Indians snd not try to escape. When the boy‘grow to
manhood, he married Mary Hayes, daughter of Dr. James
Patrick Hayes, Midway's firat Irish 1mmigrant.h

One of the most prominent of the first settlers wss
Jirmy Mitchell. The Mitchell family owned considerable
land that stretched from Mitchell Prairie, locsted just

3mia.

—
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east of present-day Midwey, to Larrison Creck. The
Mitchells built thoir home, "the most substantisl and
spacious log house in the community," at the edge of the
prsirie on the La Behia road. The house later served ss
a traveler's inn and wes frequented by wayferers from far
and wide. Musical entertainment wes provided by the
Mitchell family end southern-style cooking became a grest
attraction. The Mitchells established the first post
office in Meadison County. It existed for & few years until
Midway took over the postsl duties in the east end of the
county.S
The early settlers used hand-sawed logs to build
their homes. Apertures or small port holes were cut in the
walls to allow hand-held weapons to be fired from within
the house. One of the first cabins of this type was built
by Dr. George Washington Robinson in what is now the Elwood
comnunity. He was one of the founders of the settlement
end one of the first doctors in the area. He braved the
dengers of the Indians to administer care to the widely
scattered settlers. As late as the 1890's, a poftion of
Dr. Robinson's o0ld log house remained, and as evidence of
the hostility of the Indisns, arrowhoads could be secn
buried in the timbers of the house. Several of the doscend-

ents of Dr. Robinson still reside in the county today.6

STbiad.

—_————
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Another early settler, Thomas B. Bozemsn, for whom
the Bozeman Ferry on the Trinity River wes named, buillt his
home several miles up-river from the old Bucareli site.

His descendants tell of the harrowing experiences Bozeman
suffered at the hsnds of the Indians. Bozemsn constently
fought off the Indiens end kept them from pillaging his
property. As 8 result, the Indians fostered deep resent-
ment ageinst the Bozeman femily. One day Bozeman placed
the wheels of his wagon in & shallow spot on the Trinity
River to swell the spokes. Bozeman, with his small son
accompanying him, later went to retrieve the wagon. Upon
reaching the site, the Bozemans were met with a flurry of
arrows fired by the Indians from a concealed position. One
of the arrows struck the Bozeman boy in a vitsl orgsn, kill-
ing him instently. Holding the lifeless form of his son in
his arms, Bozemsn swore to live to see the savages driven
from the lsnd. He lived to see his promise come true.

Before Medison County was created, only a few set-
tlers resided in the area between present-day Madisonville
end Midwey. In sddition to the Mitchells, a man named Kellet
lived on Pools Creek, John Barrett on the north side of
Larrison's Preirie and the Lsrrisons end Tarpleys in the

ssme general ares.

7Mrs. Sem W. Jackson, Scrapbook on History of
Madison County (unpublished).

8Ibid.
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Joel M. Jenkins writes about his great-grandfather,

Daniel M. Larrison, in a 1954 Madisonville Meteor. Daniel

Lsrrison settled the Larrison Creek area where it crossed
en old trail (later Highway 21) in 1829. He built a log
cabin and lived there all his life, except for a brief
period when hostile Indiaeans forced him to move to Grimes
County, where settlers had banded together sgainst the In-
dians. Jenkins tells that his great-grsndfather "once
killed seven panthers one morning within three hundred yards
of his home." Jenkins also relates the story of how his
great-grendfather once killed a [00-pound bear. When
Daniel Larrison died, his obituary read, "He wses a cele-
brated marksman. His gun always took the mecat. He was &
great hunter, killed many bear, psnther snd deer." There
was a fort built on what is now Joe Tinkle's 1lsnd for pro-
tection egeinst the Indisns. Larrison is buried close to
the old fort site.9

About 1851, Dr. L. J. Goree rnoved his family into
an srea along the Trinity River where Indians still 1lived in
tents. He died in 1853 and it became Mrs. Goreo;s responsi-
bility to raise the family. P. K. Goree, her son, later
told of his mother's feelings about the Indians:

Mcther's policy was to lesve them alone. Lose

property rather than human life. We dsred not leave
livestock penned (unpenned] or hen houses unlocked,

9Mrs. Lewis Gibbs, Scrapbook on History of Madison
County (unpublished).
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however, if they came up st night to pilfer, they were
never driven away. Mother could use a weepon, eand
early tsught her sons to use theirs, but it seemed
wise to leave them alone to avoid retasliation from
them.10

In 1834 Robert end Steven Rogers settled Rogers
Prairie located in the northwestern corner of Madison
County. For a number of years they were the only settlers
in that area. The Indisns frequently robbed them of their
horses. In 1840, the Indisns attacked s femily named Gregg
who were moving west over the 0ld San Antonio Road, a few
miles from the Rogers' homesite. The account follows:

The Indisns killed all but a Negro man snd woman
who escaped with two or threo of the children end one
young man who was shot in the back. The survivors
fled toward Rogers Prairie and took refuge there. The
Indians plundered the wagons snd stole the horses.

The dead settlers were buried in the Rogers Prairie
Cemetery.ll
Another easrly family, the McIvers, witnessed similsr
accounts of Indiasn brutslity. Their son, J. E. Mclver,
later related the gruesome incident as it affected the
Rogers femily:

The first grave in old Rogers Prairie Cemetery was
for a Mrs. Rogera. One evening at dusk while her cows
were penned for nilking, Indisn bucks rode up, opened
the gate and drove them away. In her anxiety and

excitement, the widow attempted to follow them begging
them to leave them alone as it was her children's only

1OJeckson, "History of County," Madisonville Meteor,
August 2l, 194); end Mrs. Hermen Randolph, Madisonville,
Texes, August 5, 1971.

11y, M. Hollis, "Early Fistory by Hollis," Madison-
ville Meteor, May 4, 1951.
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milk source of supply. Looking back as they galloped
away, they let fly their errows and left her body
where she fell.lZ2
The Indians were a constant menace to the early settlers.
Roy Jackson wrote about the settler's fear of Indiasns that
continued into the 1870's. Jackson recalled that his grend-
father, Joshua Ford, purchased ebcut 360 acres of land in
the vicinity of Rock Prairie in 1853 end settled therec.
Rock Prairie is located sbout five miles northeast of North
Zulch., Jackson cormented:
My father told me that he could remember the men

taking their guns to church on Sundays snd stscking

them in the corner of the church becsuse of the feear

of en Indian raid. This must have been about the

year 1870.13

H.‘C. Hollis, onec of the first pioneer settlers in

the west end of Madison County, placed a record of some of
the herdships his femily endured in a Bsptist chronicle.
W. M. Hollis, his son, wrote about those hardships many
yeers later. W. M. Hollis tells of coming to Madison County
in 1837 with his parents. The Hollis family crossed the
Trinity River at Robbins Ferry snd proceeded west slong the
01d Szn Antonio Road, and eventuslly settled near old Rogers
Prairie. Because of the Indians, the family was forced to

move twelve times within s few years. An interesting account

as told by Hollis ftollows:

12Jackson, "History of County," Madisonville Meteor,
August 2, 154L.

13Roy Jackson, "As I Remember The Esrly Days in
Madison County," Madisonville Meteor, June 3, 1954.
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Our nesrest neighbor were wild Indians. Ve were
surrounded by the war whoop, howling of wolves and
bellowing buffalo. We fornmed our settlement (sone
five families came over with us and we renain to this
time close together). Myself, only nine years of age,
stood guard with my gun while my father chopped wood.

A number of our settlers, the Bartons and Mr. Taylor
had been killed by the savages. That scattered the
settlement. Our horses all save one had been stolen.
The only neighbor remaining was a Mr. Tidwell and
family, his wife snd four children. Late in the after-
noon of July 18, Indians rode by our house and stole
the last horas we had. We did not protest as we knew
we could not maxe a fight. Mr. Tidwell had slipped out
to his garden to work whon they rode up and he was cut
off from the house. He was killed and scalped. They
went into the house, csptured the wife and four chil-
dren, the youngest six weeks of sage, placed the woman
astride of a horse with her legs tied under the horse's
belly, took the children snd sped away. While this
attack was being mede my father hid us children in the
fire place, three cf us with the nine-dsy old baby,
while he and a man who lived with us, stood guerd cver
my mother, who was sick in besd. When my little sister
began crying for fear, the man tried to put s rag into
her nouth to drown the cries as the Indians galloped

by without stopping. They had taken our only horse and
father seid that was what they wanted most. The next
day we buried Mr. Tidwell's body. In a few days, the
white settlers further up ths Brazos rescued Mrs. Tid-
well and three of the children. The bsaby was killed
the second dey after the capturc, Mrs. Tidwell said.lh

W. M. Hollis, in a later article, told of how his
father raised his first corn crop:

There my father built a cabin and in the spring of
'}1 planted some corn, end in the spring burned it off,
riade holes in the ground with a hand spike, dropped
the corn and coverad it with his foot for we hsd no
plows nor horse: he kept the mutton cane knocksd down
with a stick, which was the cultivation it got. After
the bears and coons got their share, for that was ng% a
little, we had enough left for bread the next year.

Witry, sam w. Jackson, History of Madison County,
Writers Project District Number 5 (unpublished).

15y, M. Hollis, "Early Local History by Hollis,"
Madisonville Meteor, April 13, 1951.
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Another prominent settler was Julius Zulcn. He
was born in Hassel Csstle, Germany, in 1831 and subsequently
ran away from home end ceme to the New Vorld to settle in
ths west end of lMadison County. He settled in an area which
was later called 0ld Zulch. The story of the establishment
of North Zulch is recorded in a following chapter.16 Wil=-
lowhole, located about two miles south of North Zulch, was
first settled by the Robert Mosleys in the late 1830's. Two
underground cisterns, encircled by rock wslls, still romain
where Mosley dug them. The Indians of the aroca were ap-
parently friendly to the Mosleys and thoy lived in relatively
peaceful surroundings. The first post office in the west
end of Madison County was established at Willowhole. Thse
mail was taken by horseback to Bryan for a number of years
until the post office was relocated at North Zulch.17

Along Bedias Creek, in a location later to be named
Bethel, several families of Austin's original colony huddled
together for protection against the Indians. The exact date
that the cormunity was settled is not known. There the
settlers began a church and buried their dead in.the now-

famous old Bethel Cemctery. Families of Antonio Rivers,

A. B. Dodson, Ignatious Simes, Chester Corbett snd Zoraster

16"North Zulch Named for Julius Zulch," Madisonville
Msteor, Juns 3, 1954.

17Mrs. W. T. Taylor, "History of North Zulch and
Surrounding Aroa," North Zulch Chsllenger, January 3, 1959.
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Robinson, along with Edward Ariola, W. Kennard and Roderick
Monair, wers there. Andrew licWhorters, W. B. Byers, Daniel
S. Files, T. P. Plaster and Alexander McBride lived out a
few miles. The site of o0ld Bethol is located just across
Bedias Creek in present-day Grimes County; however, in the
early days, the settlers lived on land that extended into
Madison County.18

Other early settlers in the west end of the county
were Vooley, Batson, McMillisn, Cobb asnd Greer. Tom Greer,
of the Greer cormunity, which borders the Madison County-
Leon County line, was one of the last settlers to be killed
by Indians in Madison County. In the late 1850's Gresr,
together with a group of Madison County citizens, attempted
to track do'm an Indisn raiding perty thst had been stealing
cattle from him. Greer was mortally wounded by en Indian
errow.l

The first large lsndowners along the Trinity River
bottom were W. M. Forrest, Harvey Randolph, Major W. C.
Young, W. M. Hesrbuck, Elizha Clapp, end Dr. Patrick Hayes.
Other early settlers of the east end of the counéy wero the
Mersfelderc, Partens, Petitts, Rilsays, Burtis', Hennessys,

Iveys, Melvins, Fords, Westmorelands, Lamberts, Allens,

18Mrs. W. T. Tayler, Sr., "Early History of Madison
County," North Zulch Challongoer, Jesnuary 10, 1959.

19J9ckson, "History of Madison County," Writer's
Project (unpublished).



Brooks', Wingards, Bonhams, Holcombs and Thompsons. In
addition, the Wallasces, Sloans, Campbells, Rhodes', Gil-
berts, Sowells, McCorguodsles, Rogers', Burroughs', Fraileys,
Wisemans, Hydes, Bettis', Marshs, Gillespies and McGarys
were also early settlers of Madison County. Mounds in the
Midway Cecratery mark the final rosting place for many of
these pionacrs.zo
Judge W. D. Wood, en early resident of the Leon

County-3adison County area, wrote an erticle in the Qusr-

terly of the Texas State Historicsel Association, of April,

1903, in which he listsed the most prominont plonsers who
were Instrumental in organizing the County of Madison. He
listed the names of Job Collard, George Floyd, Nathaniel
Robbins, John end Doctor McKeever, the Mannings, the Bat-
sons, the Gorees, the Youngs, the McGarys, Pat Hays end
Dr. P. W. Kittrell. Judge Wood remarked that "they were all
enterprising citizens, and took an active part in the
organization of the new county." These people requested
that the area in which they lived be made a county becauss
of the great distance to the county seats of Welker and
Grimes Counties. This great inconvenlence was overcome by
the state legislature which snswered their petition, by

creatinz Msdison County. Dr. P. W. Kittrell is acknowledged

2OJackson, "History of County," Madisonville
Meteor, August 24, 194L.
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' and became the county's

as the "Father of Madison County,'

first state ropresentative.ZI

Goncral Ssm Houston was always closely attached to
the P. W. Kittrell family and the Mrs. L. J. Goree family
who lived in Midway. VWhen General Houston married Margaret
Lea, Mrs. Gorac was matron of honor. Later, Mrs. Houston
wrote to Mras. Goree concerning a trip to Independence to
attend the commencement exercises where Thonas J. Goree and
her son were graduating from Baylor College. The letter is
in the possession of one of Mrs. Goree's descsndants, Mrs.
Mary lNolley Jackson Brewster, of Temple, Texas. It reads:

My dear sister Goree,

On yesterday I received your note by the servant,
eand last night yours by the mail. I am busily pre-
paring for Independence, but as we have sold our
Jersey, I do not know yet, how we are to go. Hope to
get a conveyance in the neighborhood, and if I csn do
80, I will let Sam go up on horse-back as you men-
tioned. If I can't got a vehicle, I expect to go in
stage. I shaoll be much disappointed if we can not go
up together, and I will do everything in my power to
arrange 1t. So in the meantime, I will go on with my
preparations end write to you again this week, and lst
you know the result of my effort.

Capt. Rogers, one of the orators on the 20th and
a relative of mine will expsact you to stop with me at
his house in Washington. Indeed I have so many agroe-
able plans for tho Jjourney that I can not give them up
without en effort. I think too that we ought to leave
here somecdays before the examinations. I would name
the 19th or 20th. Of courso as I intend to write again
this wssk, I will then be more explicit. I hope you
will not decide coming by Huntsville, until you find

2y, p. Wood, "Origin of Names of Madison County
and Madisonville," Quarterly of the Texas State Historical
Association, VI-Y (April, 1903), 334-=35.
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that I have failed in getting a conveyance.

I regroet to hear of your rniother's feoble health.

Love to her end Mrs. Kittrell.
Thine ever, .
M. M. Houston??

Hidden away in the files of the descendants of
early Madison County ploneers sre many items of historical
interest. Seversal old land deeds and bills of sale have
recently come to light. In 1954, Mrs. George Crank of Mid-
way, Texas, had In hsesr possession several valuable old land-
grants. Tns grents were written on parchment with black
ink. They conveyed landgrants to her grandfather, George
W. Robinson, for his actions during the war of Texas inde-
pendence. The oldest was signed by Sam Hcuston and issued
by the Republic of Texas on December 1, 184l;. The second
grant was signed by Anson Jones, the last president of the
Republic of Texas and dated August 11, 1845. The third
grant was recorded on December 8, 1847, end signed by
J. Pinckney Henderson, Governor of the State of Texas. The
land was marked by trees, designated by size and affixed
with seals.23

The W. T. Barrett family has in its posséssion a

bill of sale for a Negro girl dated January 8, 1855. The

22porsonsl Interview, Mrs. Mary Nolley Jackson
Brewster, Temdls, Texss. March 8, 1971. Mrs. Brewster has
the original letter.

23"Land Grants More than 100 years old Prized
Possessions of Mrs., George Crank," Madisonville Meteor,
Juns 3, 1954.




55
bill stipulates that John A. Currie sold to William
Shannon "a Negro girl named Mary about twenty-one years
0ld and a slave for life." It also contains the following
information:
Also said Negro's two children, slaves for life
e o« « 3 In consideration of said three slaves said
Shannon has this day paid mo fourtecen hundred dollars
e« « « 5 8nd I warrant them to be at this date of sound
body and mind.2l
In 1851, two years before Madison County was crcaoted,
one hundred and fifty scres of lend sold for $90.91. 1In a
hand-written deed, filed for record on March 27, 1851, in
Walker County, the land was sold by Issac lcGary to John A..
Ray. The land was "a part of the Fulcher league of land
grented to Francis Fulcher." Mr. W. L. Goree, who has the
deed in his possession, remarked that the buyer, Isasac
¥cGary, was the fether of Austin McGary, who was sheriff of
Medison County sround 1880. Austin McGery was the law
officer who eliminated sn outlsw gang that had caused con-
siderable trouble throughout Madison County. Later, McGary
beceme a Church of Christ preacher. P. K. Goree, Jr.,
presently owns the land.es
The hardships e¢xrerienced by early settlers of

Madison County were typical of frontier life. One of the

ZhPersonal Interview, Buddy Barrett, son of W. T.
Barrett, Madisonville, Texss. May 5, 1971.

25Jackson, "01d Doed Records Land for 60f acre in
Masdison County," Scrapbook (unpublished).
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most perplexing problems encountered was trying to find a
doctor to care for the sick. Doctors were a rare breecd in
the wilderness, and it was often days or even weeks beforeo
one could be located. As a result the settlers fashioned
their own home-remedies to administer to the sick. It is
interesting to note some of the old time remedies used by
the pioneers of Madison County. J. Frank Doble, in his book

Covote Wisdom, includes a list of remedies that were written

by Gebe Lewls:

My grandmother recalls the following home remedies,
current in Medison County fifty yesrs sgo.

For storisch-ache. Chew liveoak leaves.

For night-sweats. Place a pan of water under the
bed.

For crick in the neck. Rub your neck egainst =a
post that hogs have rubbed against.

For infent colic. (1) Give nicotine from pipe
stem in breast milk. (2) Give poke root tea in
whisky. (3) Split en onion, put sugsr in it, and roast;
give the juice.

For sore throat. Wrsp around the neck a stocking
or sock thet hss been worn and is still damp with per-
spiration. Leave on all night.

To prevent lock-jaw. Place brown suger on a shovel
of coals; smoke the wound well with this; and then
epply a pouvltice of turpentine and brown sugar.

To settle stomach. Give broth made from the lining
of 8 chicken gizzsrd.

For caked bresst. Apply hot molasses and cover
with a flannel rag.

To remove splinters. Poultice with fat bacon or
flaxseed meal.

To prevent rheumatism. Carry a buckeye in your
pocket.

To prevent asthms. Wesr amber beads.

For croup. Give ton drops of coael oil on a tea-
spoon of sugsr.

For colds. (1) Give equal parts of hot vinegar
and water, to which has teon added suger and butter to
taste. (2) Place on the chest a flsnnel rag soasked in
equal parts of coal oil and turpentine.

To make a spring tonic. Boill the roots of quoen's
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delight in water, mix this tea with whisky and take
three big doses a day.20

After Texas became a state, a large wave of settlers
began migrating into Eest Texes. By 1853 Madison County had
been officially created by the Texas Legislature. In 185l

the county seat was established at Medisonville.

207, Frank Dobie (ed.), "01d Time Remedies From
Madison County," Coyote Wisdom, Gabe Lewis (Austin, Texas:
Texas Folk-Lore Society Publication, 1938), 267-68.




CHAPTER V
-MADISONVILLE

Madisonville, the county seat, is the largost towm
in Madison County. It was founded when the county begen
its orgsnizational attempis in 1853 and 1854. The town
site, epproximately two hundred ecres, was donated by Job
Sterks Collard, a menber of the Austin colony. The exact
date that Collsrd settled the area is not known; however,
the Mexican Government granted him the lend on May 23, 1835,
eight years befors Madison County was officially created.
Madisonville wes chosen es the county seat primarily because
it wes located in the center of the county.1

The 1858 Texss Almanac reports that Madisonville had

several small wooden buildings in 1856, a pretty good water
supply--although strong with minerals--and a limited mail
service. Houston snd Galveston were the main markets and
transportation was meinly by wagons pulled by oxen. Little
had been accomplished et that time in establishing schools

and churches.2

1Malone, "Early History of Madisonville," Msdison-
ville Meateor, June 3, 195).

27exes Almanac, 1858, 76.
58
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In 1913, W. H. Kittrell, son of Dr. P. W. Kittrell,
wrote of his experiences in Madisonville in 1857. Kittrell
lived with his parents approximately three miles east of
Madisonville on what later beceme the John McIver plsace.
He remembored Madisonville in 1857 as being a very small
village. Xittrell spent his first school days in a school
building on the west side of the town. His classes were
taught by a Professor McAshan. He recalled that he sevu his
first silver dollar st the school and he was astonished be-
csuse roney was scarce. Business in the early days was con-
ducted by bartering. Kittrell remembered that Grecn and
FPox were the big merchasnts in Madisonville. 1Isaac Green
owried a genaresl store before the Civil War and efter the
war he operated a hotel on the north side of the town. The
lend surrounding Madisonville wes all open prairie end
Kittroll remembered that only a few trees dotted the country-
side. BHe recalled that s hard freeze occurred in April,
1857, that severely affected the town. Madison County, known
for its hot, dry weather, did not expect what happened.
Kittrell remarked: |
The Spring wes early and all vegetstion and crops
wera well advanced. The foliage on the trees was full
grovn in this month. Corn was waist high and cotton
chopped out, when on this date, April 11, 1857, a
norther blew up, or down, rather, and the ground was
covered with three inches of cnow. A hard freeze that

night killed everything; all crops had to_be planted
over and the year's yield was very light.

3cibbs, Scrapbook (unpublisheod).



60

The businessmen of the cormunity were forced to travel
great distances to replenish supplies that normally would
have besen produced eround Madisonville. Meat was extrcmecly
scarce that year. About four-fifths of the deer in the
county died from what Kittrell called "black tongue," which
probably resulted from the deer eating the frost-bitten
foliage.u

In 1936, Mrs. Lizzie Leonard interviewed two of the
senior citizens of Madisonville, John R. McIver (ege 87) end
John Jemes (age 84), to obtain information on the eerly
history of Madisonville. The two men related to Mrs.
Leonard how they remembered Madisonville in 1857. They re-
called that each of the four sides of the townsquare had at
least one bullding. There was one two-story building on the
north side that was ovmed by a Jew, Issasc Green. On the
east side of the square, there was the Monk and Tyler Mer-
cantile Co., which was lccated on the site where the old
Parten building now stands. In the middle of that block,
the "Little Green Door Seloon" was in full operation. The
old Rutherford Hotel was located just off the soﬁth side of
the squere. On the south side thiere were two buildings, one
a drug store ocwned by Dr. Collins and the other a store
ownad by Sem Alphin and managed for Wilson and Yarbrough of

Navesota. The Jailhouse stood on the southwest corner of

bipia,
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the square and was built of logs, two stories high. There
was no door for the first floor. The prisoners were taken
upstairs to the second floor by a ladder leaning egainst
the building, end then let down to the first floor through
a scuttle hole. On the west side of town, Job S. Collard
operated a general store. It was located on the site of
the 0ld First National Bank building. In the middle of
that block, another building stood which wsas later used for
the first elections after the Civil VWar. Mrs. Leonsrd wrote
about the election as it was told to her:

Roves &and chains formed an isle from the shack to
the grove of trees in the square. Armed Negroes
gusrded the entrance. It took four days to hold the
election. It was the only voting place in the county
and polled about 250 votes. The election was held by
a Negro sent down from New York by the Republicans.

The town wes under Mershal [sic] Law with a standing
army of Negroes.

In 1954, Joel M. Jenkins wrote about his great-

grandfather, Daniel M. Lerrison, in the Madisonville Meteor.

Jenkins ssid that he was told by his great-grandfather that
the courthouse in 1857 was located on the present site of
Ormand's Dry Goods Store on the east side of the square.
There were only a few small stores, a jail and two saloons.
The information concerning the site of the courthouse may

have been correct; however, most of the other sources place

SMra. Lizzie Leonard, "As I Remember the Early Days
in Madison County," Madisonvilla Mstoor, April 16, 195l4.

6M3disonv111e Meteor, April 23, 195L4.
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the courthouse site in the center of the townsquare.

It has been previously noted thst Madisonville was
g "wild and wooly burg" in the 1850's, snd Norman G.
Kittrell remarked that he even feared the town's sheriff.
He recalled that ass a child accompanying his father through
Msdisonville, prior to the Civil War, he shied away from
the sheriff. "I think he had two pistols, and he needed
them in that county et that time. I was afraid of him as
if he had been a bear, snd I clung tenacicusly to my
father's sido."7

As Madisonville grew in the late 1850's, politics
took on en added interest. The earliest political rally of
significance wes held in Madisonville in 1859. A brush
arbor was erected one block south of the townsquare and
General Sam Houston spoke to a gathering of people sbout his
candidacy for Governor. Approximately 250 people, drawn
from & ten-riile radius esround Madisonville, '"came on foot, on
horseback and in wagons" to get a glimpse of their idol.
General Houston was highly applauded and, later, the people
of Msdison County voted heavily for his election.8

The trouble between the North and South erupted into
a Civil War, end for a brief time, the people of Madison-

ville thought Texa3s might not become involved. Although the

7Norm9n G. Xittrell, Governors Who Have Been and
Other Public Men of Texas (Houston, Texas: Dealy-Adey-

8Jackson, Scrapbook (unpublished).
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war did not physically come to Madison County, many of its
citizens marched off to fight for their cause, whatever it
may have been. Not much was written about Madisonville
during that period, but it was recorded later that the post-
war reconstruction period caused severe hardships to the
citizens of Madison County. Most of the people of Madison
County synmpsthized with the Confederacy and the reconstruc-
tion attempts were considered to be Northern punishment for
losing the war.9

Late in 1870, a gang of desperadoes moved into
Madisonville to eliminate a State Police Captain named
Patrick, who lived in the town. Patrick was accused of
using undue authority over criminal and civil matters per-
taining to the recidents of Madisonville. It was believed
that tho state police used excessive force without tho-
rougnly investigating a situation end Patrick hed been
branded the culprit. Instead of finding Patrick, the gang
found e man named Tinsley, who they thought was a member of
Governor Davis' state police. It was initially reported
that Tinsley wes tied to a tree and shot, and that two other
state policemsn were also killed. Captain Patrick's wife,
hearing of the report and fearing for her husband's life,
dsshed off a letter to him about the despersdoes. Patrick

was appareontly in Austin at the time of the incident. Mrs.

1vid.

—
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Patrick wrote that the desperasdoes "have sworn that they
intended to kill every G_ d__ d Radical in Madison County
and then go down and clean out CGrimes County."10

Governor Davis, after hearing the erroncous reports,
sent fifty state policemon and 300 state guardsmen to
Madisonville, slong with Ad jutant General James Davidson.
wWhen Davidson arrived in Madisonville, he found that the
reports had been exaggerated. Actually the desperadoos
were only seven men: S. Basston, Elishs Baston, John Jami-
son, Jack Rogers, Seoeley Singleton, Tider McIveor snd Mat
Burney. The men wero seen chssing Tinsley on Novcmber U,
1870, ecross the prairie on horscbazk and it was never de-
termined if Tinsley was caught. The geng returned to
Madisonville the following morning and found John Copeland
and four other freecnmen milling around in front of Captain
Petricz's home. The gang opened fire on the freedmen, but
were soon stopped by Mrs. Patrick's pleas. The freedmen
had taken refuge in the Patrick home when the firing started.
Moments later, John Copeland tried to escape from the house
and was killed instsntly by a hail of bullets. The other
four freedmen escsped. Once the actual story came out, the

police were rccalled by Governor Davis and the town became

relatively pesceful once again.ll Things began to return

10y, ¢. Nunn, Texas Under the Carpetbagpera (Austin:
University of Texas Press, 1962), 53-.

111p14., 5U.
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to normal snd Joe Westmorolasnd felt the future of the town
secure enough to build the first brick home in Madisonville.
The year was 1870.12

The growth of the early business cormmunity in
Madisonville is difficult to document; however, it is known
that in the 18830's Major William W. Viser and Dr. Reuben
Westmoreland had a drug dispensary located on the east s=ide
of the townsqusre; slso, Joseph Westmorelend owned a general
merchandise storo cn the south side of town. At that sams
time, Abrahem Lowils opcned a blacksmith shop just off the
west end of town. Several saloons were in full swing during
that period. The olcd Blue Front saloon was located on the
west side of the townsquare where Hicks Barber Shop now
stends. The Brizzolara saloon wss established on tha south
side of the townsquare where Montgomory's TV shop is pros-
ently located. These saloons were not tha only ones in the
history of the town, e&s hss been praviously noted; however,
they were two of the oldest end most disreputable which
contributed to the bed reputation of early Madisonville.13

In 1901, when the Madisonville School Board voted
in prohibition, E. B. Evans opened the Rough Edgo saloon two
miles east of Madisonville along Highway 21, just outside

the school's Jjurisdiction. Farther out the highway to the

1255cks0n, Scrapbook (unpublished).

13Malone, "History of Courthouse," Madisonville
Meteor, Juns 3, 1954.
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east, Bill Camel operated the Last Chance Saloon.. By 1903,
prohibition cama to the entire county and all local saloons
were forcoed to close. In 1903, when the first train came
to Madisonville, one of the main items shipped fron Navasota
was liquor.lh

The south side of the townsquare of Madisonville in
1882 was the most prosperous, but a fire that year destroyed
the entire block and set the towm back for a number of
years.l5 At that time, Madisonville was described as having
about 400 people, & brick courthouse, two church buildings
and "ons block of four two-story brick stoves."l6

To Job S. Collard goes the distinction of owning
and operating the town's first business--a combination
gensral store and hotal. The businsss was located at his
home, naorth of the town site, where the old Madisonville
High School building now stands.l? A crude cotton gin,
begun in 1858, was the county's firat industrial establish-
ment. It was located seven miles northeast of Madisonville
on Larrison Creek. The gin was powered by a horse-driven

trezédmill, and wa3 a great help to the people who had

proviously beon forced to ship their cotton to Walker or

14144, 151pi4.

léEugene C. Barker, (ed.), A History of Texas and
Texans, vol. II (Chicago and New York: The American
Historical Socisty, 191L), 737.

17Ma10ne, "History of Madisonville," Madisonville
Meteor, June 3, 1954.
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Grimes County for processing. Prior to the Civil Var,
"southern style” cotton plantations did not exist in Madi-
son County, but after ﬁho war cotton growers began to
compete with the lerge cattle industry.18
Several Madisonville businesses were established in
the late 1800's and continued in operaetion for a consider-
able length of time. John R. Burtis Drugs is the oldest
continucus business in Madisonville. Burtis was born in
Tennessee and rmoved to Madisonville in 1872, when he began
work in a grocery store. In 1886, he bought the drug store
from Judge Roscoe VWiley. The store hes operated ss a drug
dispensary from 1E85 to the present. Sem Houston once
stopped in the Grasen Hotel, which was located on the cecond
floor of the bullding. That occurred about twenty-five
yesrs bofore Burtis bought the store. The first telerhone
switchboerd was estsblished in the store and news of the
Spsnish-American War was telephoned from Nsvasota and posted
on a bulletin board outside the store. Burtis used a drug
mill resembling a coffee grinder to reduce drugs to powder
form. The mill wes later given to the San Jacinto Museun.
J. W. Burtis, the son of John R. Burtis, currently owns and

operates the drug store. In 194), Burtis cleimed that over

181pia.
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one million prescriptions had becn filled during the store's
existonce.19

Another old business was the T. M. Kellett barber
shop that began its operations in 1830 aend continued until
Kellett!s death in 1958. The first building that Kellett
owvned was located on the east side of the squsre. When it
burned, he moved the shop to the west side, where it re-
mained for some time before it burncd once again. Kellett
then built a brick building which stands todsy. He was
twenly years old when he opened his shop end elmost ninety
when he died. W. P. Hicks, s long time associate of Kel-
lett's, bought the shop from Kellett's heirs in 1958 and
has continuved the barbershop operation.eo

The J. L. Cleuere Grocery is another of the long
lasting businecsses in Madisonville. 1In 1894, Cleers bought
whet was then a livery steble, locsted on the southeast
corner of the townsquare. Later, he went into the grocery
business on the seme site. Cleere provided the people of
Medison County with excellent produce and service for abouﬁ

fifty years. In 1948, his son, J. R. Cleere, took over the

grocery store snd continued its successful operation until

19776hn R. Burtis, Founder of Drug Store Has Had
Colorful Career in Madisonville,”" Madisonville Meteor,

August 2L, 194).

20D, M. Kellott Has Oldoct Business in Madison-
ville," Madisonville Metecor, August 24, 194Y; and Personal
Interview, W. P, Hicks, Madisonville, Texas, July 21, 1971.
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his retirerment in 1969, when the grocery store was sold.
It is presently Bill's Dollar Store.21

The Day Furniture Company begesn its operations in
Madisonville in 1903. It was initislly located on the
north side of the square, but has been in its present loca-
tion on the esst side nearly sixty-seven yeers. Jim Day,
one of the most widely-known men in East Texas, had the
reputation of being & good men and s philenthropist. Whon
he died in 1935, his son, J. M. Day, assumed the management
of the store. Besides the furniture business, the firm
mainteined & funeresl home. 1In 1938, Day formed the Day
Burial Associetion, snd both businesses continue under the
same management today.22

Although there were cseveral early-day banks in
Madison County, only two beceme permanent establishments
and both are loceted in Madisonville. The First Nationsal
Beank of Madisonville was organized in May, 1902, the orig-
inel articles of associetion being signed by H. F. Moore,
Dan McLean, E. B. Sesy, Dave H. Shapiro end J. R. McIver.
The first board of directors was composed of these men
along with A. H. Wootters, T. W. Oliphant and M. T. Ran-

dolph. E. B. Seay became the first president of the bank

21Persona1 Interview, J. R. Cleere, Madisonville,
Texas, July 1L, 1971.

22"Day Furniture in Madisonville Since Turn of
Century," Madisonville Meteor, August 2l, 194l.
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end Dave H. Shapiro the first cashier. Later, Shapiro
followed Seay as president. Through the years J. N. Heeath,
Henry A. Turner and Datus Sharp, Sr., were presidents.

Datus Sharp, Jr., is currently the president of the First
National Bunk. Tho bsnk has shown steady growth since its
orgaenizsation send its present assets are about eleven
million dollars.®s
The Fsrmers Stete Bank of Madlsonville was organized
on Merch 25, 1907, with W. A. Berry, J. M. Brownlee, Jr.,
E. E. Day, Williem Earbuck, J. J. Jopling, E. M. Thomason
end A. Viser as its first directors. E. M. Thomason became
the first president and J. J. Jopling the first cashier.
Presidents through the yesrs have been E. M. Thomason, J. L.
Cleere, Dan Connel, E. Whitmire, J. W. Viser, J. E. Viser,
T. B. Viser, R. M. Henderson end Tom Thorn, who is currently
the president. The bank had $198,0856 on deposit in 1907
and presently has assets in excess of ten million dolla.rs.zk
{fadisonville was slow to establish s school system.

It 13 certsin that some schooling was availsble in the

1850's, as W. H. Xittrell has elready stated; however,

23Personal Interview, Datus Sharp, Jr., President,
First National Bank of Madisonville. July 21, 1971.

2L"Parmer State Bank Was Esteblished in Madison-
ville, 1907," lMsdisonville Meteor, August 24, 194}, and
Personal Interview, Joe Drew, Farmer State Bank of Madison-
ville. July 21, 1971.
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records are not sveilsble to determine the locations of
schools and early teachers. Midway was probsbly the first
town in Madison County to organize e school. Revorend
Joseph A, Clark was its first teacher and the school wss
conducted in his home. During the Civil Wer, Miss Cleara
Steele (lster Mrs. B. S. Malone) taught "the salphsbet, read-
ing, spelling and simple arithmetic" in the community of
Elwood. The small cormunity of Jenkins had & Mr. Williem-
son, who taught in one of the firat "state supported field
schools" organized there in 1877. The students ranged in
sge from five to twelve and studied frum the Blueo-Back
Speller. Willismson was paid thirty-five dollsrs a nonth
for teaching three months ocut of the year.25

The firat schools on record in Madisonville were
operated by Gecrge Hubbaerd and Williem W. Viser in 1870.
Each of the men had his own private school. It is not kmown
where Hubbard's school was located in the town but Viser's
small school building stood where the First Methodist Church
building presently stands. Subsequently, a Reverend Wilmer,
who hzd been professor of mathematics at the University of
Florida, consolidated the two schools. After his deeath in
1879, Misses Julis and Sussn Smithers and Lilliem Otie of
Huntsville formed a new school on the site where the garment

factory is now located. Some of the first teachers who

25Halone, "History of County's First Schools
Traced," Madisonville Meteor, June 3, 1954.
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taught in Madisonville were Mrs. Eberhardt, Mrs. Florence,
Mrs. Standard, Mrs. Walker and the Allen brothers, John and
Rivers. In 1890, Miss Loula MMalone began teaching in
Madisonville. She and her sister, Miss Amanda lMalone, were
instrumentsl in orgenizing the Parent-Teacher Association
in Madisonville in 1911.2°

Madisonville got one of the finest schools in East
Texss in the late 1880's when the Allen brothers formed their
Madison Acsdemy. John Hodges Allen had been born in 1859 in
Mississippi and reared under a strong religious influence.
After studying at the Verome Male Academy in Mississippi, he
moved to Texas, where he intended to organize his own boys'
acsdomy. He conducted his first school at Bedias, Texas, in
1887. The following summer he taught school at Sand Frairie
in Medison County and it was there that a group of in-
terested citizens of !Madisonville found him end ssked him
to teach in Madisonville.

Seversl Madisonville businessmen--lr. Florence,
Dr. Westmorelsnd and Dr. John Morris--built a two-story
school house and rented it to Allen. The remains of the old
Madisonville school building were sdded to the back of the
new schoolhouse snd the students referred to it as '"the
kitchen." John Allen, with his brother Rivers, promoted an

excellent school. It was named the Madison Academy and




13
students came from grest distances to attend. For four
yesrs, Allen tried to persuade businessmen of Madisonville
to back him in an effort to establish a private school for
boys. In 1899, after exhausting all of his resources, he
was corpelled to move to Brysn, Texes, where he was provided
with financial sssistance. He orgsnized the boys school
thst became known as Allen Academy, and within a few jyears,
it was one of the finest preparatory schools in the state .27
The Madisonville school lost its two fine educstors and it
was not until 1919 that it wss able to recover. In that
yesr, John Conn becseme Msdison County's first County Super-
intendent. Through his efforts the school system began a
steedy growth.za

The socisl institutions of the homs, the school and
the church were uppermost in the mindes of the early settlers,
with the church being the rost important. The first organ-
ized church effort in Madisonville was probably made by the
{ethodists. One source 3ays that "ths Mudisonville Metho-
dists were active as early as 1847." Circult riders moved
throughout the state preasching the gospel. Reverend Robert
Crawford was one of the earliest of those circuit riders.

The first Methodist Church building was s one-room structure

27Lockie Parten Thompson, An Esrly Administrator:
John Hodpges Allen, unpublished Master's Thesis, University
of Texas, 19&8 21-9.

28Malon0, "History of Schools," Madisonville
Meteor, June 3, 199.
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that was probably built in the 1870's. It was on the site
where Roy Fannin's home is presently located. 1In 1904,
the building was sold to the Missionary Baptists, who had
split with the Madisonville Baptist Church, snd a new church
was constructed on the corner of Main and McIver. Befors
1900, the Madisonville Methodist Church served as the head
of a circuit which included Midway, Elwood and Oxford. In
1897, the parsonage burnad snd was rebuilt on the ssme site.
The church that was built in 1904 served the community for
forty-seven years, until it was replaced by a beautiful red
brick church and educationsl center in 1951.29

Among the early-day pastors were T. B. Graves,
1881; J. B. Adair, 1884-1886; J. A. Savage, 1890; and Jim
Adams, 18%4. Other early-dsy pastors were D. W. Gardnor,
W. W. Horner, G. S. Sandel end Reverend Powledge. Early
members of thc Firat Methodist Church were Mr. and Mrs.
Mark Robinson, Msjor and Mrs. W, W, Viser, Dr. and Mrs.
John Forris, Sr., and Mr. and Mrs. M. Y. Randolph. Mrs.
Thomas H. Ward Joinsed the Methodist Church in 1881, T. W.
Byers in 1883, Mrs. Ida Viser in 1884 and Mrs. Minnie Ford
in 1886. 1In 1890, Mrs. Erin Burtis, Dr. J. E. Morris, Mrs.
Betty Crutchfield snd Mrs. Jim Brownlee became active

members.30

29"pipst Methodist Church on Ciprcuit 100 Years Ago,"
Msdisonville Meteor, June 3, 195.

301piq.
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The exact dote of the rirst Baptist organization

is not known; however, on April 17, 1856, J. W. D. Creath
presented a land deed to Thomas Flood, Charles Claubaugh,
C. F. Clasubaugh and Thomsas J. Goree, who were Trustees for
the Baptist Church of Madisonville. Reverend George Groen
and Dr. J. V. VWright were the first organizers of the
Church. Mrs. J. R. Steele was onc of the first members
baptized by Dr. Wright. Apparently no church building was
constructed for a number of years. One source says that
during the Civil War, the Baptist Church failed to function
regularly.3l

The first written record of the Baptist Church was
found in an old boox owned by Mrs. W. D. Morgen. The book
records that in 1877 or 1878, a Mr. T. P. Williams settled
about four miles west of Madisonville. Willisms invited
Brother G. H. M. Wilson of the Mount Zion Church of Walker
County to hold a religious meeting in Williams community.
As a result of that meeting, the Liberty Baptist Church
was organized. The first meetings were conducted in a brush
arbor. Later in 1878, A. T. Farrar became the pastor and
served the cormunity for several years. In 1879, Roverend
John Wilmer, a school teacher at Madisonville, was instru-
mental in moving the church to lMadisonville. On Jsnuary l,

1880, the church was rensmed the Madisonville Baptist

31Persona1 Interview, Reverend T. R. Wagstaff,
Pastor, First Baptist Church of Madisonvills, July 19,
1971.
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Church. Initially, a large group of people joined the
church and for a brisf perlod the organizetion grew, but
betwesn the years 1881 to 1888, interest in the church
waned .32

In 1888, during a revival meeting, the church
members asked for a permanent minister. A preacher named
Barclay accepted the invitation and from that time on,
except for a few months, the church has had a regular min-
ister. Mrs. Francis Matterson took it upon herself to work
for the construction of a church building. Her efforts
resulted in the start of construction in the late 1880's,
but thes problens were just beginning. The lumber bought
for the building lay on the ground until it slmost rotted,
the blocks for the foundation were too short, snd the church
seats were made of three-inch slats that were too hard to
sit on. Finslly, Jim Henssrling and John Womble went to
Galveston and bought appropriate benchos for the new build-
ing.33

In 1902, the Baptist Church split over the distri-
bution of Missionary funds and one group broke aﬁay to form
the Missionary Baptist Church. Finally, in 1913 or 191,
the two churches were reunited under the pastorship of a man
known only as Brother Page. The membership of the combined

churches at that time was 213 members. The First Baptist

3271pi4.

331bi4.
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Church of Madisonville continues today in the brick church
building that was built in 1931. It is located Jjust south
of the t:ox.'nsquarea.31‘L

As early as 185}, Midway had established a Chris-
tian Church. Although there may have been a Church orf
Christ crganization in Madisonville at that time, the
records show that it was not until 1883 that the Church of
Christ wes formed. In 188}, the first meeting house was
built on a site southwest of the townsquare. J. B. Lee &nd
Jim Gillespie were the Church's first elders. John R. Burtis,
E. E. Day, end S. D. Nichols slso served as early elders of
the church. In 1883, Easrry Hemilton, an early evsngelist,
was Instrunmental in orgsnizing the first congregetion. The
first church building served the congregation sixteen years
until 1903. At thet time, 8 new building snd preacher's
home were built st the place where the Humble Service Sta-
tion now stands at the intersection of Highways 75 snd 21.
In 1930, the old church building was no longer adequate to
meet the growing attendance and a new building was con-
structed. A brick building was erected for its members.
It is the same building that remains today.35 Some of the

evangelists of the Church of Christ who assisted the growth

3lb1piq.

35Mack Stirmen, "Mgsdisonville Church of Christ Hss
Had Interesting History Since 1883," Madisonville Meteor,
August 2, 19L);.
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and development of the local congrogation were Harry
Hamilton, A. J. McCarty, T. W. Phillips, O. E. Phillips,
W. D. Bills end Cled Wellaco.3°

In many towns in Texas, the nswspaper is one of
the oldest continuous businesses; tho first Madisonville
newspaper, however, was founded two years after the oldest
business. It was printed in 1888 by J. B. Hall, a Baptist

minister. He called the paper The Texas Wstchman and,

unfortunately, it was short-lived.37 One of the earliest

copies of the paper dated April 21, 1888, carried a head-

line in bold type that read, "SENTENCED TO BE HANGED.

W. H. ROC, THAX WIFE FOISOlIZR, DOOMED." The article that

followed reportasd that Judge Normen G. Kittrell passed the

death sentence and set the exccution for May 26, 1888.38
In 1894, Thonas J. Stevens established a newspspser

called The Messenzer. Willism F. Booltman assisted Stevens

in publishing ths psper. Stevens once wrote, "While I
furnfshed the money . . . $500 . . . to start my Madison-
ville sheet, I know that my deceased bosom friend, Wm. F.
Booknan, did more to keep it alive than ever I did."
Stevens sold the paper to a school teacher, W. W. Sharp,

and the name was changed to the Madisonville Meteor. 1In

1936, James T. Denton, while working as a printer for the

351pia.

37"Meteor Established in 188)," Madisonville Meteor,
June 3, 199).
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paper, claimed the credit for naming the newspaper. Back

befora the turn of the century, Denton had worked briefly

as a printer for Sharp and supposedly he changed the nane

39

of the newspaper to the Madisonville Meteor.

Soie of the editors of the newspaper were Gus A.
Newman, J. A. Palmer, W. F. Bookman, W. L. Turner, Reverend
T. B. Anderson and J. A. Knight. Knight in 1920 was the
first to sot type with s linotype machine. In 1938, H. B.
Fox bought the newspaper from Knight end in 1939 the

Madisonville Meteor "was accleimed the best all-round weokly

newsperer in the nation” by tho Crowell Collier Publishing
Co., of New York. D. H. Reeves purchased the newspaper in
1945 end sold it to ths present publisher, W. B. Crossley,
on March 15, 19&3.h0 The Crossleys have continued the
business es 8 femily operstion snd have won numerous swards
for their excellent pasper.

Madisonville wes incorporated in 1912 and since
that time has cshown steady growth as s cormunity. Msny
smell cormunities were settled in lMadison County, but only
three-~iiadiscnville, Midwey snd North Zulch--continued to
grow. By the late 1800's, schools end churches were estab-

lished throughout the county. The railroad csme to Madison

39"Meteor Established in 188l," Madisonville Meteor,
June 3, 195),.

LOrbid.; end Interview with H. B. Fox, Circleville,
Texss, August 5, 1971.




County after the turn of the twentieth century, and

shortly thoresafter automobiles, telephones, electricity

end natural gas followed.



CHAPTER VI

OTHER IMADISON COUNTY SETTLuM=NTS AND IMPORTANT EVENTS

Madison County is dotted with communities thst were

once early settlements.

Although each has a history dating

back to the early years of ths county, no sttempt will be

made to rccord the history of all of the settlements. The

cormunities of Midway, North Zulch, Elwood, and Willowhole

will be briefly considered.

early comrmunities of Madison County:

Albert Lee
Antioch
Buckaults
Bullard
Bundic
Canary
Center
Chapel Hill
Cobbs Creek
Concord

Connor
Cottonwood
Dingerville
Elwood

Falva
Fellowship
Farris
George
Greenbrier
Greer
Hennessy
High Prairie
Hollis
Island

Jenkins
Joz ye
Keefer

Kickapoo
81

The following is a list of

Laceols
Madisonville
Meccsa

Midway

Mitchell Prairie
Mt. Tabor

North Zulch

Osk Grove

Oxford

Pee Deeo

Plainview
Pleasant Grove
Randolph

Rock Prairie
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Rogers Prairie Shiloh Union
Ssnd Prairie Sweet Home Williamson
Shady Grove Ten Mile Willowholel

Midway is the oldest settlement in Madison County,
although it was not known by that nsme until 1855. It is
located in ths eastern end of the county, approximately
three miles from the Trinity River. Major Willism C. (Billy)
Young was the first white settler in the Midwey area. Major
Young, a South Cerolinian, moved to the site of present-day
Midway in 1829. Many years later, in 1935, Young's grand-
daughters, Mrs. A. Y. Rogors, Mrs. M. Y. Riley, Margarot
Young end his grandson, J. H. Young, related the experiences
of their grandfather to Mrs. Sam W. Jackson. They told of
Major Young's arrival in the area whero he found Indisns
encamped along the lakes of the Trinity River. The raids
againat cattle and horses of the early settlers and the
consequent deaths of many of the early pioneers were vividly
described. As settlers moved into the locale, the Indians
were slowly driven from the territory. By 1855, Midway had
become a thriving little community. It had a school, a
general merchandise store snd a post office.

Professor Joseph A. Clsrk moved from Midway, Ken-

tucky, to the growing community in 1855. He was a minister,

lPeraonnl Interviews, Mr. Lewis Gibbs, Retired Mall
Carrier, Madison County; snd Tezas Highway Map, Madison
County, June 3, 1971.

2Jackson, Scrapbook (unpublished).
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an educator and a8 man of grost character. Clark was per-
mitted to namoe the settlement. Many local residonts have
always considered that Midway received its nsme because it
was located between two specific places, which is not the
cese. Clark named the community for his home town in Xen-
tucky. He became one of Midwsy's first pastors end taught
school in his home. During Clark's first yesr at Midway he
established the First Christian Church at Huntsville.
Clarx's sons, Addison and Rsndolph, studied under their
father, and later, after returning from the Civil War,
founded a private school at Thorp Springs, Hood County,
known as Add-Ran College. It later becsme the property of
the Christian Church snd, aflter several moves, it was located
at Fort Worth. The name was changed to Texas Christian
Univer:ity.3

One of Clerk's early students was John T. Browne,
who went on to become Major of Houston. In 1935, at the
sge of ninety, Browns recslled that his happiest years were
in 1895 and 1856 when he was studying under Professor Clari.
Some of the students who attended Clark's school with Browne
were Austin McCary, who later became a minister of note,
Poly Finney, Tom snd Jack Robbins, Tex Page, the two Viser
boys and Mary Hennessey. Browne remembered the old settlers

of Midway as being John Harris, Isaac Wycough, the Allens,

3Ibid.

——
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the Clapps, the Brooks, the Randolphs, the Burtis', the
Kittreclls, the Forrests, the Hayes, the Youngs, and the
W.rlalzcet‘)'.elds."’r

Among the famous educators and teachers who served
the Midway school was Mrs. Tormaie Nolley Goree, wife of Major
Thomas J. Goree, who headed the Texas state penal insti-
tution for a number of years. Other nembers of the school
faculty were Major William W. Viser, Dr. John Masterson snd
Mrs. Francis Riley Masterson. Mrs. Masterson's son later
bocame Dean of the Law School at the University of Missouri.
James F. Cox also taught at Midway and subsequently became
the Presidznt of Abilene Christian College. John W. Thomason,
a grandson of Masjor T. J. Goree, became a famous artist and
author. The Thomason Room in the library of Sam Houston
State University is numed in his honor. John and River Allen
also teught at Midway and later founded the preparatory
institution of Allen Academy at Bryan, Texas.5

When the town site of Midway was laid off in 1854,
S. C. Wakefield, one of the early pioneers, built a small
drug dispensary. Lsater, he added a genersl merchandise de-
partment to his store. His sons, Wilson F. end Ira L.,

carried on the business after his death under the name of

Wakefield Bros. They were the first postmasters of Midway

b1oi4.

S1bid.
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end also the first gin owners. Thomas Taylor and P. K.
Goree owned the first grange store, which dealt with farm
supplies. A man named Harris, always referred to as "Grand-
pa" Harris, was the first blacksmith of Midway. He remainecd
in operation for over half of a century.6

The Midway Cemetery is crowded with the graves of
the early settlers. Major W. C. Young, the first permanent
white settler of the county, is buried there under a stand
of cedar trees. His grave marker, badly worn by time, is
barely reasdable; but, the inscription "Wounded st Battle of
San Jacinto--April 21, 1836" is discernible. The tcwn of
Midway had 217 residents in 190L.'

North Zulch, one of the three major communities in
Madison County, is located in the west end, spproximately
six miles from the Navasota River. The town was named for
Julius Zulch. When Zulch was a seventeen-year-old boy in
Germany, he became upset over a present given him by his
father. Zulch thought that his brother had received a better
gift and consequently he decided to run away from home.
Zulch worked his way across ths Atlantic on a ship that
land=sd at Galveston in 1848. He became a peddler of tin-
ware while he movad toward the interior of Texas. In 1849,

Julius Zulch settled in an area which was later called 0ld

61bida.

Trexns Almanac, 1904, L2.
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Zulch He built s one-room log house and continued to pcddle
his tinware and whiskey. In those days Zulch traveled to
Galveston by ox wagon to buy his supplies. Later, he married
Martha Martin and opened a small general store. His old
homo place is located about two miles south of the present
tovn of North Zulch.8

Julius Zulch donated the land for the first church snd
school in the ares. Later, the first post office was named
in his honor. When Julius died, his son, Will Zulch, in-
herited the estate. The town of North Zulch was built on
that land. In 1906, Will Zulch donated slternate lots in
forty-six blocks located on the west side of the Springfield
Road to a branch of the louston and Texss Central Rasilroed
called the Mexis Cut-off. The town of North Zulch was created
astride the tracks. Twc lakes were made to water the
engines that came through the town. They becsme known as the
North Zulch and South Zulch reservoirs. Tom Ware became the
first section foreman snd married the daughter of Jonah
Shannon. Horace Cobb was the first Houston and Texas Central
sgent and made his residence in the freight room at the depot.
Dr. Julius Zulch, snother son of Julius Zulch, owned the land
east of the Springfield Rosd. Jim C. Parker was the first

merchant to build and stock a generel store in North Zulch.9

8lorth Zulch High School, Scrapbook on History of
North Zulch.

Mrs. W. T. Teylor, "History of North Zulch and West
End of Ma2dison County," Madisonville lMeteor, August 2L, 194l;.
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The history of lNorth Zulch end Willowhole sre closely
related. Willowhole is a community that is locsated about
two niles south of North Zulch. Early travelers would stop
at Willowvhole to water their enimals in a deep depression
running beside the Springfield Road. The watering place
was guarded by a thick willow grove. Consequently, the
place became knowm ss Willowhole. Meny of the early Willow-
hole settlers moved to North Zulch around 1908, when the
reilroad came to the sres. Julius Zulch is buried at the
Wiliowhole Cometery.lo

Early schools in the lNorth Zulch area were held in
private homes snd leter in the Free Will Beptist Church.
The earliest teachers of record were W. S. Barron, Irenc
Morgsn end Mrs. George Msbry. In 1908, tho citizens of
North Zulch organized the first public school. A two-story
freme building was constructed for the schoolhouse. It had
four rooms on the first floor and an auditorium on the
second. Subsequently, in 1924, a modern two-story brick
school building was constructed at the site of the old build-
ing. In the years that followed, Oak Grove, Bundic and
Willowhole consolidated their schools with North Zulch. In
1904, the area that laster ceme to be known as Norfh Zulch

had less thsn one hundred residents.ll

101p14.

1lpersonal Interview, Mrs. Lewis Gibbs, Madisonville,
Texas, June 3, 1971; and, Texas Almsnac, 1904, 42.
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Elwood, located in the northeast corner of Madison
County, was one of the esrly thriving communities. Dr.
George lashington Robinson was probably the first permanent
settler in that location. Although by 185 Elwood was one
of the lsrgest conmunities in the county, it failed to grow
and keep pace with other cormunities such as Midwey and
Madisonville. In 1854, Elwood was competing with Madison-
ville to become the county seat of lMadison County and as
early as 1856 the cormunity had its own post office. Elwood
lost out to Madisonville becauso the act of the Texas Legis-
lature stated that the county seat had to be located within
five miles of the center of the county.12

Only one general store remains in the vicinity of
present-day Elwood. It 1s owned and operated by lMrs. Sanm
Wilson. Mrs. Wilson related to the author of this study how
Elwood came to be named. In the early deys before Madison
County was created, the cormunity was growing ss settlers
moved into the esrea. A besutiful clear spring, surrounded
by a thick stand of elm trees, was located close to the
community. Several of the most enterprising of the settlers
found that the water from the spring was an excellent source
from which corn whiskey could be made. The cormunity
lesrned of the clsndestine operation st the spring and
began referring to the spot as elm-wood. Over a period of

yeers the community refined the name and the settlement

12Jackson, Scrapbook (unpublished).
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becemz known es Elwood. It is not known if the present-
day inhabitants of Elwood would all agree on how the com-
rnunity was named; however, the story as told by Mrs. Wilson
certainly seems likely. Dr. George Washington Robinson,

the founder of the corumunity, is buried close to his beloved
cormunity in the Allphin Cemetery. The inscription on his
marker reads: "Dr. G. W. Robinson. Born Jan. 23, 181).
Died Nov. 6, 1837. Wounded at the Battle of San Jacinto
April 21, 1836."

The o0ld cemeteries that abound in the county are
nute evidence of the hardships of the early settlers. One
of the most interesting aspects of this study has been the
survey of the ccunty's old cemeteries. The cemeteries ore
full of graves with markers that record the early history
of entire families. Some of the pioneers lived to be nincty
years old, and buried beside them ere their children,
usually in lsrge numbers. Many of the children died st birth
or shortly theresfter.

The old Bethel Cemetery, located on the Madison
County-Grines County line, has been mainteined es a memorisl
to the early pioneers of that area. The cemetery, on land
owned by lrs. Ola Gsrrett of Madisonville, is all that re-
maine of the once proud cormunity of Bethel. Probably in
the early 1830's, the settlers banded together at Bethel rfor

mutual protection against the Indians. The femilies of

13perzonal Interview, Mra. Sam Wilson, Elwood
Corrnunity, July 20, 1971.
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Antonio Rivers, A. B. Dodson, Edward Ariols, Ignatious
Simes, Zoraster Robinson and many others are buried thero.
Mrs. A. B. Dodson, one of the most famous of the o0ld set-
tlers buried at Bethel, made the first Texas flag in 1835.
She was buried in the cemetery in 18,48. Another old cem-
etery is found at Willowhole, which is located only a few
miles from the old Bethel Cemstery. Julius Zulch, the
founder of tha "Zulch" comaunity, is buried thers. Theo
gravs of the first man buried in the cemetery, a Mr. Pruitt,
cen still be seen.

During the period of the Republic and, even more,
during ths Civil Wer, timss were hard in Masdison County.
Land and cattle could not be converted to cash. Trade was
mc3tly conducted in barter snd credit was lster paid for

in property. D. E. E. Braman, in his book, Braman's Infor-

mation About Texsas, writes about the monsy system in early

Texs3. He says, "Credit, in Texas, is the universal rule,
snd prompt payment the exception; the system runs through
ell businesses, from the smallest account to the most im-
portent contract."lu
During the Civil War, Madison County, like many
other Texas counties, 1ssued script, "shin plasters," to be
used as money. It is not known how the "shin plaster" was

backed, but it wes probably with land. Madison County may

have 1ssued the script in varying denominations such as

lhBraman, Inform=tion About Texas, 80.
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five dollars, ten dollars, snd so on; however, the only
reference to the script that cen be found pertains to the
two-dollar "shin plaster'."15

WVhen the wer broke out between the states, many of

the Madison County residents took up arms snd went to war.
Although most of the men fought on the side of the Con-
federacy, som= fought for the Union. Mrs. Jessis Steele
Divine reports that her grandfather fought for the South,
but that one of his brothers fought for the North.l®

Mrs. Ssrsh Goree of lMadison County had five sons

who fought for the Confedoracy. Her youngest son, P. K.
(Serap) Goree, the father of Mrs. Sam W. Jackson, was the
couricr for General Robert E. Lee. General Lee referred to
Scrap 8s "my little messenger in gray." Dr. P. W. Kittrell,
who married a Goree, alluded to the Civil War in his journal
in 1844. He wrote:

While a cruel snd unnatural war has now for more
than three years been desolating our fair and beauteous
lend snd spreading woe snd misery broadcast, we in
this section have been comparatively free from its
ravages, and may God in his infinite mercy still sg%re

us snd bring to an end this crusl internecine war.

Twenty-three yesrs after the Civil War ended, ths

ISH. Bailey Carroll, "Texas Collection," South-
western Historicsl Qusrterly, XLIX, 153.

18ps, Jessle Steels Divine, "As I Remember the
Eerly Days in Madison County," Madisonville Meteor, May 21,

1954 .

17Jac‘.fson, Serapbook (unpublished).
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Confederate veterans of Madison County assembled at Madison-
ville to orgasnize Tho Associstion of Confederate Veterans
of Madison County, Texss. In that year, 1888, the following
officers were elected: Major W. W. Viser, President; Col.
J. C. Webb, Vice-President; James B. Lee, Secretary; and
Samuel T. Allphin, Treasurer. From that meeting an asso-
ciation c2lled the Camp John G. Walker No. 128 was formad.
The purpose of the association was as follows:
To refute 211 cherges against us ss Confcderates

of want of pstriotic devotion to the principles of

that free constitutional government handed down to us

by our fathers, and for the further purpose of caring

for our comrades who sre in indigent circumstances.l®

The following is a list of the surviving Confederate

veterans of Madison County in 1888: J. C. Webb, G. H.
Hudbbsrd, J. C. Morris, J. E. Morris, F. M. Connor, R. Viley,
J. D. Jordan, J. €. Donton, W. A. Price, J. W. Towns, J. S.
Wallace, J. S. Thomason, Jr., J. H. Robinson, M. B. Neigh-
bors, S. H. Lindswey, G. M. Robinson, N. H. Park, J. H. New-
lend, J. F. Dunn, E. B. Seay, T. F. Paulsel, Joe Adams,
J. M. Brownlee, Sr., B. F. Bard, Boon Anderson, W. W. Viser,
Al Byers, W. D. McDonald, J. M. McDonald, E. E. Day, J. G.
Conn, A. P. Burrows, J. A. Sowell, P, J. Mersfelder, N. A.
Glover, P. K. Goree, Wiley Sowell, W. F. Wakefield, Wayneo
Mitchell, Joe Williams, T. D. Hennessey, J. L. Connor, R. L.

Broo¥s, M. H. Ford, A. J. McBrido, F. R. Madole, F. M.

18yadisonville Moteor, August 27, 1897.
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Chambless, 0. L. Pigford, J. G. Heath and R. G. Bsrber.l?
Colonel J. C. Webb wrote an srticle in 1897 on his
definition of a Confedsrate soldier. It is quoted in part:
I would hsve every ex-Confederate soldier living
within the bounds of Madison County . . . . What I
mean by an ex-Confederate soldier--is one who per-
formad the duties of an ex-Confederate soldier and who
stood up to the rack when the fodder gave out, and
bless God stands there yet, or in other words, hsas
never yot dograded himself by claiming that he was
either fool enough, or scoundrel enough to have taken
up arms and fought in a causs that he believed then,
or that he believes now, was not altogether and in
every particulsr just, right and patriotic.zo
Roy Jackson was born at Willowhole in Madison
County on November 2, 1880. He recalls that when he was
8 small boy liedison County had "no railroad, nor even a
bank and I can't remsmber & graded dirt road."?! The
earliest means of transportstion in Madison Couaty werec the
ox wagon and double-mule teams that carrisd cotton, the
county's only surplus commodity, to markets in Galveston
and Houston. These trips often took three to four weeks.
Later, Navassota and Huntsville became the principle markets
for the county.22
Early Texas cormerce was usually handled by freight

wagons pulled by "three to eight yoke of oxen." Using oxen

191b1a. 201bid.

leoy Jackson, "As I Remember Tho Early Days in
Madison County," Msdisonville Meteor, May 28, 195).

22 jackson, Scrapbook (unpublished).
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instead of horses had its advantegos. Tho largoe feet of
the ox did not sink into the soft Texas mud, the price was
one-fourth less than that for draft horses, and oxen could
live off the prsirie grass better than horsas.23

In the early days, small bateau and steam boats
plied the Trinity River and provided a limited form of
transportation when the river was navigable. Stage lines
were late in coming to Madison County, and it is not knowm
if any regulsrly-scheduled runs wers made in the county.
01d records reflect that s stagocoach often ran through Mid-
way on its way to Huntsville from Nacogdoches; however, it
was not a scheduled run. Willowhole and later North Zulch
had some form of stagecoach travel to Brysn sbout the turn
of the century.zu As the 0ld San Antonio Road is the oldest
regularly traveled highway across Texas, it is sssuma2d that
stage linzs did move alcong this northern rosd in Madison
County. The Gtransportaticn problen appesred to be solved
when the first railroad came to the county.

Esrly in 1902, three prominent Msdisonville business-
men--Judge J. M. Brownlee, C. C. Hayes and J. J. Jopling--
somewhat in jest, formed the Madisonville-Navasots South-
western Railroad Company. The International and éroat

Nerthern Paflway Co. (I&GN), with headquarters in Pslestine,

23Hogan, Texas Republic, 66-7.

2hJackson, Scrapbook (unpublishad).
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Texas, heard of the new venture and cslled for a Madison-
ville corrnission to meet with them and discuss placing s
branch line from Navasota to Madisonville. The negotiations
were successful and, in 1903, Madison County got its first
railroad, which terminated at lMadisonville. C. D. Donaldson
becsme the first station sgent for I&GN. For a brief time,
the railroad business was prosperous. Later, three modern
highways were built through the county snd the railroad
began to lose rmoney. In 194); the railroad went into re-
ceivership end was taken over by the Missouri Pacific
Company, which discontinued the line.25 Several rsilroad
branch lines were 1lsid scross the western end of Madison
County in the early 1900's. Tne Mexia and Navasota Division
of the Houston snd Texas Central was conpleted in 1905. 1In
1907, the Trinity and Brazos Vallsy Reilway Line, which lster
became the Rock Island Line, was laid.26

One rumor in Madison County that continues to this
dsy concerns the location of an old "lost-lead mine."
Reverend W. H. Kittrell, son of the famous doctor, wrote
several letters to his friends in Madison County to persuade
them to look for a lead mine that was used during the Civil

War. The following is a psrt of one of those letters:

2SJackson, "History of Madison County," Writers
Project (unpublished).

26Johnson, Texss and Texans, 738.
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John A. Durst, Wsyne Mitchell and John A. Jackson
told me of & lead mine about seven or eight miles
northeast of lMadisonville at the bottom of a branch
or croeck where they got lead for bullets during the
Civil Wer.

Various engineer concerns have searched periodicslly for
the 0ld lead mine without any success. Some tracos of lead
have been found, but only in insignificant quaontities.

After the turn of the twentieth century, modern con-
veniences began to arrive in Madison County. The first
telephone service came to the county in 1904. H. B. Houston
was granted a franchise by the commissioner's court to
esteblish a line from Huntsville to Madisonville. Todsy,
in 1971, telephone service reaches practically every home
and business in Madison County.28

Although automobiles had been in existence for a
number of years, the first car in Madison County was bought
in 1913 by Dr. Acie Spear and Sherman McAfee. It was a
chain-driven Ford. The "horseless carrisge," as it was
called, excited the Madison County residents and soon a
nunber of Fords, Chevrolets and Mexwells were bought by the
citizens. By World War I, a respectable number of auto-

rmobiles were owned and operated in the county.29

27Jackson, "History of Madison County," Writers
Project (unpublished).

28Malone, "First Telephone Service," Madisonville
Meteor, June 3, 195|.

29Malone, "Earliest Cars in 1913," Madisonville
Meteor, June 3, 195l.
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The ssme year that the automobile came to Medison
County, electric service was established. 1In 1913, Gulf
States Utilities set up its firast electric dynamo on a
location north of the town site of Madisonville. Over a
period of years, electricsl lineos were extended throughout
the county. Later, several rural electrificstion companies
provided electricity to the most remote spots in the county,
but it was not until 1940 that Madison County had its first
natural gas service. In that year, the Lone Star Gas
Company moved to Madisonville and began to pipe gas to the
hories end businesses of the county.Bo

In 1508, the first county sgricultursl extension
work begen in Msdison County. J. W. Waltman was sppointed
by Texas A & M College to serve both Leon snd Msdison
Counties. tension work was just becoming known at that
time end demonstration trains toured the counties of
Texas.31 There have been many orgsnizations in Medison
County that have assisted it in its growth. Not all of
them can be included in this study end no slight has been

intended.

30Halone, "Electric Service in 1913," Madisonville
Meteor, June 3, 1954.

3l"History of Extension Service snd County Agent
Work Herc Reviewed," Madisonville Meteor, August 24, 194l;.




CHAFTER VII
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

This study has traced the early history of lMadison
County, Texss, from the days of its first Indien inhabitsnts
to about the turn of the twentieth century. Previously,
only limited literary efforts had beon made to record its

rowth, &nd consequently, old records of early events were
elroat non-existent. From the availsble materisl, an at-
tenpt was made in this study to preserve the highlights of
the history cf Madison County.

Msdison County is located in East Texes on the
western edge of the Atlsntic Gulf Cosstsl Plains. The gen-
eral surface of the county is undulating with only a few
hills snd valleys. The mild climate permits s long growing
scason of about 261 dasys, which results primasrily in en
sgricultursl economy. Early Indian tribes of the county
were the Cenis and the Bidai Indisns, slthough other tribes,
such as the Apaches and Comsnches, frequently raided the
srea.

Early explorers of the Madison County area were
Luis de lMoscoso, a Spanisrd, who had been en original member

of tho Hermando de Soto expedition, and Cavelier, Sieur
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de La Sglle, the famous French explorer who, according to
one source, was killed just south of the present site of
Medisonville. As & result of the Spanish expeditions, the
settlements of Bucareli (1774) and Trinidad (1805) were
established along the banks of the Trinity River in whst
later became Madison County. Both of the settlements were
short-lived.

The early rosds through lladison County begsn as
east-west Indiun end buffalo trails. Vith the coming of
the Spenish, the routes were rccorded on maps and given
nanes. The northern road, that traversed the county east
to west, was known by three differoent names: 0l1d San An-
tonic Road, El Camino Resl end the King's Highway. The
lower road through the area broke away from the 0ld San
Antonio Rosd somewhere between the Trinity River and the
present towm of Midway, end continued in & southwesterly
direction. It was known as the La Eshia Road.

By 1821, Stephen F. Austin established the first
American settlement in Texas along the Brazos snd Colorado
Rivers, on a site called Vashington-cn-the-Brazos. After
Texas geined its independence, the surrounding area became
known as Washington County. Subsequently, Burleson,
Brezos, Lee, Montgomery, Griries, Walker, San Jacinto and
Madison Counties were carved out of Washington County.

As early as 1842, the Congress of the Republic of

Texss attempted to create tho "judicial county" of Madison,
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but the sct was declared unconstitutional as the county was
not represented in Congress. Eleven years later, on Jan-
uary 27, 1853, Madison County was officislly crested, being
drevn from the counties of Walker, Grimes and Leon. Dr.
Pleasant Williams Kittrell was responsible for recormending
the creation of lMadison County, and he had the privilege of
giving it ¢ nane. The county was nomed for James Madison,
who was the fourth President of the United States, and was
organized on August 7, 1854, when Madisonville was selected
as the county sest.

It is difficult to establish the exact date that the
first white settler srrived in Medison County, but it is
generslly accepted that Major W. C. (Billy) Young was the
first permanent white settler. After Young moved to the
vicinity of preseat-dey Midway in 1829, other settlers mi-
grated into the erea. It 13 recorded by Mrs. Sem W. Jackson
that Major Young, while fighting for Texas at the Battle of
Sen Jacinto, was the first to utter the femous rallying
cries, "Remember the Alemo," "Remember Goliad." The early
settlers of the county suffered the hardships typicsl of
frontier 1ife and only the strongest remsined to assist in
the orgenization of Madison County.

Meny small cormunities were settled throughout
Msdison County, but only three--Madisonville, Midway and
North Zulch--continued to grow. In 1853, Job S. Collard

donested about 200 acres of land to estsblish the town site
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of Madisonville, snd in 1854, Madisonville was selescted
s the county sest of Madison County. In 1856, it was
reported that lMadisonville had several wooden buildings,
8 good water supply and a limited mail service. By the
late 1800's, schools snd churches had been organized end
several small businesses were in operation. Madisonville
was incorporsted in 1912, end since that time has shown
steady growth as a community.

Midway, loceted in the easstern end of the county,
is the oldest settlement in Madison County. As settlers
moved into the locale, Indians were driven from the teorri-
tory, end by 1855 Midwsy had become a thriving little com-
munity, consisting of a school, a church, & genersl
merchsndise store snd a post officc. By 1904, it hed s
population of 217.

North Zulch is located in the west end of the
county, and is nemed for Julius Zulch, a peddler of tin
ware, who rioved into the ares in 1849. Zulch built a small
house two miles south of the present site of North Zulch,
married Martha Msrtin aend reised a family. In 1906, when
the reilroad rmoved through the western end of the county,
the tovn of North Zulch was established astride the tracls.
By 1908, schools, churches and smell businesses had been
established in the town.

The rallrosd csme to Madison County in 1903, and

shortly thereafter sutomobiles, telephones, electricity, and
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natural gas followed. The first telephone service came to
the county in 1904, when a line wes established from Hunts-
ville to Madisonville. The first cer, a chain-driven Ford,
wes bought in 1913 by Dr. Acie Spear and Shermasn McAfee.
That same year, Gulf States Utilities established the first
electrical service in Madison County. It was not until
1940 thet Madison County hsd its first nstural gas service.

Thus, somewhat late, it became a modern Texss county.
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